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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Shareholders of Thermal Energy International Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Thermal
Energy International Inc., which comprise the consolidated statements of
financial position as at May 31, 2018 and May 31, 2017, the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the
years then ended, and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these
consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are
free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we consider internal
control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

KPMG LLP is a Canadian limited liability partnership and a member firm of the KPMG network of independent
member firms affiliated with KPMG International Cooperative (“KPMG International”), a Swiss entity.
KPMG Canada provides services to KPMG LLP.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of Thermal Energy International Inc.
as at May 31, 2018 and May 31, 2017, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
Ottawa, Canada
September 27, 2018

THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
2018

2017

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents (note 5)
Trade and other receivables (note 6)
Current tax receivable
Inventory (note 7)
Finance lease receivable (note 8)

$

Non-current assets:
Finance lease receivable (note 8)
Property, plant and equipment (note 9)
Intangible assets (note 10)
Goodwill (note 11)
Deferred tax assets (note 24)
Total assets

3,282,208
2,749,640
52,344
439,792
89,141
6,613,125

$

93,257
77,395
640,238
1,216,501
51,632
2,079,023

2,950,140
2,706,124
17,783
470,339
77,328
6,221,714
182,399
76,623
646,373
1,228,156
21,524
2,155,075

$

8,692,148

$

8,376,789

$

1,808,139
–
95,441
1,765,697
684,623
232,222
4,586,122

$

1,744,032
63,960
94,989
1,028,732
1,626,817
232,387
4,790,917

Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Trade payables (note 13)
Current tax liabilities
Pensions and other employer obligations
Other liabilities (note 14)
Deferred revenue (note 15)
Provisions (note 16)
Non-current liabilities:
Deferred tax liabilities (note 24)
Total liabilities
Equity:
Capital stock (note 17)
Contributed surplus (note 20)
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Deficit
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest (note 19)
Total equity

673

76,713

4,586,795

4,867,630

32,231,329
3,978,830
282,292
(32,335,936)
4,156,515
(51,162)
4,105,353

32,231,329
3,929,224
343,235
(32,974,934)
3,528,854
(19,695)
3,509,159

Commitments (note 26)
Subsequent events (notes 12 and 29)
Total liabilities and equity

$

8,692,148

$

8,376,789

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
On behalf of the Board:

“Michael Williams”
Director

“William Ollerhead”
Director
3

THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
2018

2017

$ 17,408,211
9,074,188
8,334,023

$ 13,192,107
5,753,532
7,438,575

3,260,195
4,471,849
113,200
7,845,244

2,844,807
3,945,061
67,730
6,857,598

Operating income

488,779

580,977

Finance revenue

32,225

11,523

521,004

592,500

98,475

(199,768)

619,479

392,732

(64,600)

(218,436)

Revenue (note 21)
Cost of sales
Gross profit
Expenses:
Administration
Selling, marketing and business development
Research and development

Income before income taxes
Income tax recovery (expense) (note 24)
Net income for the year
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation of
overseas operations
Total comprehensive income for the year

$

554,879

$

174,296

Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest (note 19)

$

638,998
(19,519)

$

414,880
(22,148)

Net income for the year

$

619,479

$

392,732

Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest (note 19)

$

578,055
(23,176)

$

203,125
(28,829)

Total comprehensive income for the year

$

554,879

$

174,296

Net income per share - basic and diluted (note 25)

$

0.004

$

0.003

Net income for the year attributable to:

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Capital
stock
Balance at June 1, 2016
Stock-based compensation (note 20)
Dividend paid
Share options exercised
Transactions with owners
Net income for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences arising
on translation of overseas
operations
Total comprehensive income
for the year

$ 32,069,073

Contributed
surplus
$

–
–
162,256
162,256

3,853,739
117,266
–
(41,781)
75,485

–

–

–

–

162,256

75,485

Deficit
$ (33,389,814)

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
income
$

–
–
–
–
414,880

–
414,880

554,990

Total
attributable
to owners of
the parent
$

3,087,988

Noncontrolling
Interest
$

17,514

Total
equity
$

3,105,502

–
–
–
–

117,266
–
120,475
237,741

–
(8,380)
–
(8,380)

117,266
(8,380)
120,475
229,361

–

414,880

(22,148)

392,732

(211,755)

(211,755)

(6,681)

(218,436)

(211,755)

203,125

(28,829)

174,296

Balance at May 31, 2017

$ 32,231,329

$

3,929,224

$ (32,974,934)

$

343,235

$

3,528,854

$

(19,695)

$

3,509,159

Balance at June 1, 2017

$ 32,231,329

$

3,929,224

$ (32,974,934)

$

343,235

$

3,528,854

$

(19,695)

$

3,509,159

Stock-based compensation (note 20)
Dividend paid
Transactions with owners

–
–
–

Net income for the year
Other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences arising
on translation of overseas
operations
Total comprehensive income
for the year

–

–

–

–

–

–

Balance at May 31, 2018

$ 32,231,329

49,606
–
49,606

$

3,978,830

–
–
–
638,998

–
638,998
$ (32,335,936)

$

–
–
–

49,606
–
49,606

–
(8,291)
(8,291)

–

638,998

(19,519)

619,479

(60,943)

(60,943)

(3,657)

(64,600)

(60,943)

578,055

(23,176)

554,879

282,292

$

4,156,515

$

(51,162)

49,606
(8,291)
41,315

$

4,105,353

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
2018
Operating activities:
Net income for the year
Add items not involving cash:
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment (note 9)
Gain on disposal of assets
Net investment in finance lease (note 8)
Finance revenue
Stock-based compensation (note 20)
Income tax expense (recovery) (note 24)
Unrealized foreign exchange and
translation adjustments
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables
Inventory
Trade payable
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Income taxes paid
Interests received on finance lease
Other interests received
Interest paid
Net cash provided by operating activities
Investing activities:
Finance lease principal payments received
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Net cash provided by investing activities
Financing activities:
Share options exercised
Dividends paid
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Increase in cash and cash equivalents for the year
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year
Exchange differences on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

619,479

2017
$

392,732

44,342
(4,918)
–
(32,225)
49,606
(98,475)

38,114
–
(254,198)
(11,523)
117,266
199,768

(44,568)

10,226

(43,516)
30,547
64,107
(942,194)
739,208
(103,975)
32,225
349
(2,302)
307,690

(622,097)
(19,825)
771,190
912,114
271,292
(134,585)
11,523
2,133
(4,015)
1,680,115

77,329
9,157
(49,551)
36,935

111,031
–
(38,164)
72,867

–
(8,291)
(8,291)

120,475
(8,380)
112,095

336,334

1,865,077

2,950,140

1,143,148

(4,266)
$ 3,282,208

(58,085)
$ 2,950,140

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

1. Nature of operations:
Thermal Energy International Inc. (the “parent”) was incorporated under the Ontario Business
Corporations Act on May 22, 1991 and is primarily engaged in the development, engineering and
supply of pollution control, heat recovery systems, and condensate return solutions. The parent
company’s common shares are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX.V”) under the symbol
TMG. The primary office is located at 36 Bentley Avenue, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, K2E 6T8.
These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorized for issue by the Board of
Directors on September 26, 2018. The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
results of the parent and its subsidiaries (collectively known as the “Company”) for the years
ended May 31, 2018 and 2017.

2. Basis of presentation:
(a) Statement of compliance:
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”). The significant accounting policies are summarized in note 3.
The policies applied in these consolidated financial statements are based on IFRS issued
and effective as of September 26, 2018, the date the Board of Directors approved the
consolidated financial statements.
(b) Measurement basis:
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as permitted
by IFRS and as otherwise indicated within these notes.
(c) Significant accounting judgements and estimates:
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The judgements,
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of the valuation of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The judgements, estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates and assumptions are recognized in the
year in which they are revised and in any future periods affected. Actual results may differ
from these estimates, judgements and assumptions.
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THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2. Basis of presentation (continued):
(c) Significant accounting judgements and estimates (continued):
The critical estimates include:



Impairment:
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which an asset's or cash-generating
unit's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. To determine the recoverable
amount, management estimates expected future cash flows from each asset or cashgenerating unit and determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present
value of those cash flows. In the process of measuring expected future cash flows,
management makes assumptions about future operating results and, in the case of other
intangible assets, determines an applicable royalty rate. These assumptions relate to
future events and circumstances. The actual results may vary and may cause significant
adjustments to the Company's assets within the next financial year.
In most cases, determining the applicable discount rate involves estimating the
appropriate adjustment to market risk and the appropriate adjustment to asset-specific
risk factors. Further information on the estimates used in determining the recoverable
amount of other intangible assets and goodwill is provided in notes 10 and 11
respectively.



Future production outputs related to the finance lease:
When a new finance lease or amendment is signed, in determining minimum lease
payments receivable, management makes estimates regarding monthly energy outputs
of the leased asset based on assumptions regarding the efficiency of the asset, the
operations of the plant in which it is located, penalty payments resulting from temporary
plant shut-downs and residual value of the equipment. These assumptions relate to
future events and circumstances. Actual results may vary from estimate. Further
information on the future production outputs related to the finance lease is provided in
note 8.



Assumptions used in the Black-Scholes fair value calculations:
The estimation of share-based payment expense requires the selection of an appropriate
valuation model and consideration as to the inputs necessary for the valuation model
chosen. In calculating the share-based payment expense, key estimates such as the rate
of forfeiture of options granted, the expected life of the option, the volatility of the
Company’s stock price and the risk-free interest rate are used. Further details of inputs
used in the measurement of fair values at grant date are provided in note 20.
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THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2. Basis of presentation (continued):
(c) Significant accounting judgements and estimates (continued):


Allowance for doubtful accounts:
The valuation of allowances for uncollectable trade receivables requires assumptions
including estimated credit losses based on customer and industry concentrations and the
Company’s knowledge of the financial conditions of its customers.



Heat recovery solutions contract revenue:
The stage of completion of any heat recovery solutions contract is assessed by
management by taking into consideration all information available at the reporting date. In
this process, significant estimates are made about milestones and the estimated costs to
complete work.



Deferred tax assets:
Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible
temporary differences, to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be
available against which they can be utilized. These estimates are reviewed at every
reporting date. Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and the level of
the reversal of temporary differences, future taxable income and future tax planning
strategies.

The critical judgements include:



Multi-element arrangements:
Judgement is applied in determining the components of a multiple element revenue
arrangement. In allocating the consideration received among the multiple elements of a
revenue arrangement, management must make estimates as to the fair value of each
individual element. The selling price of the element on a stand-alone basis is used to
determine the fair value. Where stand-alone sales do not exist, various inputs as detailed
in note 3(n) are used to determine the fair value. Changes to these inputs may result in
different estimates of fair value for an element and impact the allocation of consideration
and timing of revenue recognition.

(d) Functional currency and foreign currency translation:
These consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the
functional currency of the parent. The functional currency of each entity consolidated with the
Company is determined by the currency of the primary economic environment in which it
operates.
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THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

2. Basis of presentation (continued):
(d) Functional currency and foreign currency translation (continued):
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other
than the entity’s functional currency are recognized at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period: monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange prevailing at that
date; non-monetary assets and liabilities carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates of exchange prevailing at the date when fair value
was determined; and non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. Such exchange differences arising
from translation at year-end are recognized in profit or loss.
Foreign operations are translated from their functional currencies into Canadian dollars on
consolidation by applying the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting year for
assets and liabilities and the average exchange rate for the year for consolidated statements
of comprehensive income items. Such exchange differences, including differences that arise
relating to long-term inter-company balances that form part of the net investment in the
foreign operation, are recognized in other comprehensive income or loss. On disposal of a
foreign entity, the related cumulative translation differences recognized in equity are
reclassified to profit or loss and are recognized as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the end of each
reporting year. These exchange differences are recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income.

3. Significant accounting policies
(a) Basis of consolidation:
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the parent,
which is the ultimate parent, and its subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the parent company obtains control and continue to be consolidated until control
ceases. Control is established when the parent company is exposed to, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared using consistent accounting policies and all material inter-company transactions are
eliminated in full upon consolidation.
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THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(a) Basis of consolidation (continued):
Where the ownership of a subsidiary is less than 100% and a non-controlling interest thus
exists, any losses of that subsidiary are attributed to the owners of the parent and to the noncontrolling interest even if that results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.
Non-controlling interest presented as part of equity represents the portion of a subsidiary’s
net income or loss and net assets that are not held by the Company. The Company attributes
total comprehensive income of subsidiaries between the owners of the parent and the noncontrolling interests based on their respective ownership interests. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.
The following subsidiaries have been consolidated within the consolidated financial
statements:
Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation

Ownership
interest

Functional
currency

Principal activity

Thermal Energy International
(UK) Ltd.(1)

United Kingdom

100%

GBP

Thermal Energy International
Corporation
2003356 Ontario Inc.
2153639 Ontario Inc. (2)
GEMchem Ltd. (1)

Delaware, U.S.

100%

USD

Ontario, Canada
Ontario, Canada
United Kingdom

100%
100%
67%

CAD
CAD
GBP

Thermal Energy International
(Guangzhou) Ltd. (2)

Guangzhou,
China

55%

CAD

Manufacture and sale of
condensate return solutions
and sale of heat recovery
solutions
Sale of heat recovery and
condensate return solutions
Non-operating
Holding company
Sale of water treatment
products and services
Sale of heat recovery and
condensate return solutions

(1)
Thermal Energy International (UK) Ltd owns 67% of GEMchem Ltd., a company incorporated in the United
Kingdom.
(2)
2153639 Ontario Inc. owns 55% of Thermal Energy International (Guangzhou) Ltd., a company incorporated in
China.

All subsidiaries have a reporting date of May 31.
Information relating to each of the Company’s subsidiaries that have non-controlling interest
can be found in note 19.
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THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
b) Business combinations:
The Company measures goodwill as the fair value of the consideration transferred including
any contingent consideration to be transferred and the recognized amount of any noncontrolling interest in the acquired entity, less the net recognized amount of the fair value of
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed, all measured as of the acquisition
date. When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognized immediately in
profit or loss. The Company elects on a transaction-by-transaction basis whether to measure
non-controlling interest at fair value or at their proportionate share of the recognized amount
of the identifiable net assets at the acquisition date. If the business combination is achieved
in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the previously held interest in the acquired entity is
re-measured to fair value as at the acquisition date through profit or loss. Transaction costs,
other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities that the Company
incurs in connection with a business combination, are expensed as incurred.
(c) Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statements of financial position comprise cash
at banks and on hand, and highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months
or less, and which are readily convertible into a known amount of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of change in value.
(d) Inventories:
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined by
the first in, first out method and includes all direct costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed
and variable overheads where applicable. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated selling costs.
(e) Leases:
(i) The Company as a lessor - finance leases:
Finance leases are those where substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership of
the equipment are transferred to the customer. Sales revenue recognized at the
inception of the lease represents the fair value of the asset or, if lower, the present value
of the minimum lease payments, net of any executory costs and related profit included
therein, computed at the market rate of interest. The cost of sale recognized at the
commencement of the lease term is the cost, or carrying amount if different, of the leased
property less the present value of the unguaranteed residual value. Unearned finance
income, effectively the difference between the total minimum lease payments adjusted for
executory costs and the aggregate present value, is deferred and presented as finance
lease receivable in the consolidated statements of financial position.
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THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(e) Leases (continued):
(i) The Company as a lessor - finance leases (continued):
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting years over the lease term so as to reflect
a constant periodic rate of return on the Company’s net investment in the lease.
Finance leases receivable are measured at total estimated minimum lease payments
receivable, net of estimated expected finance revenue. Finance leases receivable are
assessed for recoverability at each year end. Any indication of impairment of the net
investment in lease will result in a write-down to the revised estimated recoverable
amount. Indications that a finance lease receivable may be impaired include customers
experiencing significant financial difficulties, the increasing possibility of a customer going
bankrupt or undergoing a financial restructuring and payment default or delays.
(ii) The Company as a lessee:
The economic ownership of a leased asset is transferred to the lessee whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. The related asset is then recognized at the inception of the lease at the fair value
of the leased asset or, if lower, the present value of the lease payments plus incidental
payments, if any. A corresponding amount is recognized as a finance leasing liability,
irrespective of whether some of these lease payments are payable up-front at the date of
inception of the lease. The corresponding finance leasing liability is reduced by lease
payments less finance charges, which are expensed as part of administrative expenses.
The interest element of leasing payments represents a constant proportion of the capital
balance outstanding and is charged to profit or loss over the year of the lease.
All other leases are classified as operating leases. Payments on operating lease
agreements are recognized as an expense on a straight line basis over the lease term.
Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred.
(f) Property, plant and equipment:
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognized at acquisition cost and are
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. Subsequent costs of replacing components are recognized only if it is probable that
future economic benefits embodied within the component will flow to the Company, and its
cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced component is
derecognized. The cost of other replacement parts and general servicing of property, plant
and equipment is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(f) Property, plant and equipment (continued):
Depreciation is computed using the following annual rates and methods which reflect the
estimated useful life of the assets less estimated residual value:
Asset
Plant and equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Laboratory equipment
Computers
Leasehold improvements
Motor vehicles

Method
5 years straight-line
5 years straight-line
5 years straight-line
3 years straight-line
3 years straight-line
4 years straight-line

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting year
and adjusted if appropriate. In the case of assets held under finance leases, expected useful
lives are determined by reference to comparable owned assets or over the term of the lease,
if shorter. Depreciation and impairment charges are included within administrative expenses.
(g) Intangible assets:
Intangible assets were acquired with the acquisition of Gardner Energy Management on
July 1, 2008 and are reported at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Amortization is computed using the following rates and methods
which reflect the estimated useful life of the assets:
Asset
Trade names and trademarks
Non-compete agreements
Industrial know-how
Designs and drawings
Customer relationships

Method
indefinite life
2 years straight-line
5 years straight-line
5 years straight-line
5 years straight-line

Amortization methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting year
and adjusted if appropriate. Intangible assets with indefinite lives are subject to annual
impairment testing. See note 3(i) for a description of impairment testing procedures.
The indefinite life intangible assets represent the GEMTM Trade name and Trademark, which
are used to set the product apart from those of competitors producing traditional mechanical
steam traps. Management considers the reputation of the GEMTM product as continuing to
strengthen and cannot be assigned a finite life after which it will have no value.
Amortization is included within administrative expenses.
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THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(h) Goodwill:
Goodwill represents the future economic benefits arising from a business combination that
are not individually identified and separately recognized. See note 3(b) for information on how
goodwill is initially determined. Goodwill is carried at cost less accumulated impairment
losses. See note 3(i) for a description of impairment testing procedures. Impairment losses
on goodwill are not reversed.
(i) Impairment:
The carrying values of all property and equipment and intangible assets with a finite usefullife are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The carrying values of goodwill and
intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are reviewed for impairment on an annual basis.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which
there are largely independent cash inflows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets
are tested individually for impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.
Goodwill is allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from
synergies of the related business combination and represent the lowest level within the
Company at which management monitors goodwill.
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset's or cash-generating
unit's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of fair value less
costs to sell and value-in-use. To determine the value-in-use, management estimates
expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and determines a suitable interest
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The data used for impairment
testing procedures are directly linked to the Company's latest approved budget. Discount
factors are determined individually for each cash-generating unit and reflect their respective
risk profiles as assessed by management.
Impairment losses for cash-generating units reduce first the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to that cash-generating unit. Any remaining impairment loss is charged pro rata to
the other assets in the cash-generating unit. With the exception of goodwill, all assets are
subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously recognized may
no longer exist. An impairment charge is reversed if the cash-generating unit’s recoverable
amount exceeds its carrying amount.
Impairment testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets is performed using the relief from
royalty method, which requires management to estimate expected future revenue from sales
of the product to which the indefinite-lived intangible assets relate and determine an
appropriate royalty rate to apply to the future revenue. The royalty rate is subject to
estimation uncertainty and reflects company and product specific factors as assessed by
management.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(j) Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets:
A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present
obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the
risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation. Where there are a number of
similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined
by considering the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are discounted to their present
values, where the time value of money is material.
Any reimbursement that the Company can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with
respect to the obligation is recognized as a separate asset. However, this asset may not
exceed the amount of the related provision.
All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current best
estimate.
In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resources as a result of present
obligations is considered improbable or remote, no liability is recognized, unless it was
assumed in the course of a business combination.
(k) Warranties:
The Company warrants its condensate return solution product against defects for 10 years
and does not offer extended warranties beyond 10 years. A provision for warranty expense
is recorded when the revenue for the related product is recognized. The provision is based
upon the terms of the warranty, the Company's historical experience and management
estimates of future expense for replacement or repairs. The provision is charged to cost of
sales.
(l) Equity:
Capital stock represents the amount received on the issue of shares, less share issue
expenses, net of any underlying income tax benefit from the issuance costs.
Contributed surplus includes charges related to stock options and warrants. When stock
options and warrants are exercised, the related compensation cost is transferred to capital
stock.
Deficit includes all current and prior year retained losses.
Accumulated other comprehensive income represents foreign currency translation
differences arising on the translation of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries, net of income
taxes. All transactions with owners of the parent are recorded separately in equity.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(m) Equity-settled stock-based compensation:
The Company offers an equity-settled stock-based compensation plan for its directors,
employees and certain contractors. None of the Company’s plans feature any options for a
cash settlement.
All goods and services received in exchange for the grant of any share-based payments are
measured at their fair values, unless that fair value cannot be estimated reliably. If the entity
cannot estimate reliably the fair value of the goods or services received, the entity shall
measure their value indirectly by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted.
For the transactions with employees and others providing similar services, the Company
measures the fair value of the services received by reference to the fair value of the equity
instruments granted.
All equity-settled share-based payments (except warrants to brokers) are ultimately
recognized as an expense in profit or loss with a corresponding credit to contributed surplus.
Equity-settled share-based payments to brokers, in respect of an equity financing are
recognized as issuance cost of the equity instruments with a corresponding credit to
contributed surplus.
If vesting years or other vesting conditions apply, the expense is allocated over the vesting
year, based on the best available estimate of the number of awards expected to vest. Nonmarket vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of awards that are
expected to become exercisable. Estimates are subsequently revised if there is any
indication that the number expected to vest differs from previous estimates. Any cumulative
adjustment prior to vesting is recognized in the current year. No adjustment is made to any
expense recognized in prior years if awards ultimately exercised are different to that
estimated on vesting.
Each tranche of an award with different vesting dates is considered a separate grant for the
calculation of fair value and the resulting fair value is amortized over the vesting year of the
respective tranches.
When stock options are exercised, any consideration paid by employees is credited to capital
stock in addition to the amount previously recorded in contributed surplus relating to those
options.
(n) Revenue recognition:
Revenue comprises revenue from the sale of goods and rendering of services. Revenue is
measured by reference to the fair value of consideration received or receivable by the
Company for goods supplied and services provided, excluding sales tax and trade discounts.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(n) Revenue recognition (continued):
Revenue is recognized when the amount of revenue can be measured reliably, collection is
probable, the costs incurred can be measured reliably, and when the criteria for each of the
Company’s different activities have been met, as described below.
Sale of goods
Revenue from product sales is recognized when the Company has transferred to the buyer
the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods supplied. Significant risks and
rewards are generally considered to be transferred to the buyer when the customer has taken
undisputed delivery of the goods. Amounts received in advance of meeting the revenue
recognition criteria is recorded as deferred revenue on the consolidated statements of
financial position. Products shipped prior to agreed billing terms are included in unbilled
product revenue.
Rendering of services
Services comprise surveys, installation of goods, project development and after-sales service
and maintenance. Revenue is recognized when the services are provided by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract at the reporting date. Amounts received in advance of
meeting the revenue recognition criteria is recorded as deferred revenue on the consolidated
statements of financial position. Services rendered prior to agreed billing terms are included
in unbilled product revenue.
Contracts for heat recovery solutions
The Company provides heat recovery solutions specifically customized to each customer.
These contracts specify a fixed price for the development and installation of heat recovery
equipment and are within the scope of IAS 11 “Construction Contracts”.
Contract revenue includes the initial amount agreed in the contract plus any variations in
contract work, to the extent that it is probable that they will result in revenue and can be
measured reliably. As soon as the outcome of a contract can be estimated reliably, contract
revenue is recognized by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. When the
Company cannot measure the outcome of a contract reliably, revenue is recognized only to
the extent of contract costs that have been incurred and are recoverable.
Contract costs are recognized in the year in which they are incurred. Any expected loss on a
contract is recognized immediately in profit or loss.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(n) Revenue recognition (continued):
The stage of completion is determined by reference to the proportion of contract costs for
work performed to date compared to the estimated total contract costs. Only those contract
costs that reflect work performed are included in costs incurred to date. Contract costs
relating to work not yet performed on the contract create an asset related to future contract
activity. The gross amount due to customers for contract work is presented as deferred
revenue for all contracts in progress for which progress billings exceed costs incurred plus
recognized profits (less losses). Costs incurred to date in excess of progress billings are
recorded as unbilled revenue.
Multi-element arrangements
The Company provides its heat recovery solutions, GEMTM product, installation and servicing
on a standalone basis or as part of a multiple element arrangement. Stand-alone sales
include sales of heat recovery solution systems or GEMTM steam traps. When sold in a
multiple element arrangement, the heat recovery solution systems or GEMTM steam traps are
considered separate units of accounting as they have stand-alone value to the customer. The
total consideration for the arrangement is allocated to the separate units of accounting based
on their relative fair value and the revenue is recognized for each unit when the requirements
for revenue recognition have been met. The Company determines the fair value of each unit
of accounting based on the selling price when they are sold separately. When the fair value
cannot be determined based on when it was sold separately, the Company determines a
value that most reasonably reflects the selling price that might be achieved in a stand-alone
transaction. Inputs considered in making this determination include the specific parameters
and model used in determining the contract price, price lists and historical pricing for standalone sales of the same goods or services.
Interest revenue and expenses
Interest revenue and expenses are reported on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method.
(o) Post employee benefits and short-term employee benefits:
Certain subsidiaries of the Company provide post-employment benefits through defined
contribution plans. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Company
pays fixed contributions into an independent entity. The Company has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions after its payment of the fixed contribution.
The cost of the Company's pension benefits for defined contribution plans are expensed
when employees have rendered services entitling them to contributions.
Short-term employee benefits, including vacation entitlement, are current liabilities included in
“pension and other employee obligations”, measured at the undiscounted amount that the
Company expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(p) Research costs and government assistance:
The Company carries on various research programs, and from time to time these are funded
by the Government of Canada. Funding received is accounted for using the cost reduction
approach and is netted against research costs. Research costs are expensed as incurred.
(q) Investment tax credits:
Credits claimed in connection with research and development activities are accounted for
using the cost reduction method. Under this method, assistance and credits relating to the
acquisition of equipment is deducted from the cost of the related assets, and those relating to
current expenditures, which are primarily salaries and related benefits, are included in the
determination of profit or loss as a reduction of the research and development expenses.
(r) Income taxes:
Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of deferred tax and current tax
not recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those obligations to, or claims from,
fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior reporting years, that are unpaid at the
reporting date. Current tax is payable on taxable profit, which differs from profit or loss in the
financial statements. Calculation of current tax is based on tax rates and tax laws that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year.
Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences
between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax bases of assets and liabilities.
Deferred tax liabilities are always recognized for all taxable temporary differences, and
deferred tax assets are generally recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognized if the taxable temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable income or loss, nor the income or loss for the year
reported in the Company's statements of comprehensive income.
Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, except where the Company is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable income against which to utilize the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(r) Income taxes (continued):
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured, without discounting, at the tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting year and applicable
in the year in which the liability is expected to be settled or the asset realized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax income or
expense in profit or loss, except where they relate to items that are recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the related deferred tax is also
recognized in other comprehensive income or equity, respectively.
(s) Earnings per share:
The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share data for its common shares.
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the earnings attributable to owners of the
parent by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. The
diluted earnings per share is determined by adjusting the earnings attributable to owners of
the parent and the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the effects of
all dilutive potential common shares, which comprise options outstanding.
(t) Financial instruments:
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. Financial assets are derecognized
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire, or when the
financial asset and all substantial risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability is
derecognized when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.
On initial recognition, all financial assets and liabilities are measured and recognized at their
fair value plus transaction costs, except for financial assets and financial liabilities carried at
fair value through profit or loss, which are measured initially at fair value. Subsequently,
financial assets and liabilities are measured and recognized as described below.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(t) Financial instruments (continued):
Financial assets
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets of the Company are classified
into the loans and receivables category upon initial recognition.
The category determines subsequent measurement and whether any resulting income and
expense is recognized in net income (loss) or in other comprehensive income (loss) .
All financial assets except for those at fair value through profit or loss are subject to review for
impairment at least at each reporting date. Financial assets are impaired when there is any
objective evidence that impairment exists. Different criteria to determine impairment are
applied for each category of financial assets, as described below.
All income and expenses relating to financial assets that are recognized in profit or loss are
presented within ‘finance revenue’ or ‘other financial items’, which the Company has not
incurred to date, except for impairment of trade receivables which is presented within
‘administration’ expenses.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. Cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables, other miscellaneous receivables and finance lease receivable are classified as
loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are recognized initially at fair value plus any
directly attributable transaction costs and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest method, less any allowance for doubtful debts. An allowance for trade
receivables is made when the Company has obtained an objective indication that it will not be
able to collect the amount due according to the original terms and conditions agreed to with
customers. Indications that loans and receivables are impaired include customers
experiencing significant financial difficulties, the increasing possibility of a customer going
bankrupt or undergoing a financial restructuring and payment default or delays. Individual
receivables are considered for impairment when they are past due or when other objective
evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default.
Financial liabilities
The Company’s financial liabilities include trade payables and accruals which are initially
recognized at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(t) Financial instruments (continued):
Fair value hierarchy
Financial instruments measured at fair value on the statement of financial position are
classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in
making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: Level 1 valuation based on quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities; Level 2 - valuation techniques based on inputs other than quoted prices included in
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly
(i.e., derived from prices); Level 3 - valuation techniques using inputs for the asset or liability
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
The Company currently has no financial instruments measured at fair value on the statement
of financial position. Therefore, a fair value hierarchy is not presented.
(u) Segment reporting:
In identifying its operating segments, management generally follows the Company’s key
geographical areas, which reflect the business of the Company’s two main operating units in
Ottawa, Canada and Bristol, UK. In determining its reportable segments, the Company
considers qualitative factors, such as operations which are considered to be significant by
management, as well as quantitative factors, so that material revenues and expenses are
appropriately disclosed. Management considers assets and liabilities on a global basis and
does not assess on a segment basis. The reportable segments’ financial results are reviewed
quarterly by senior management and the Board. Corporate and other costs which are not
easily attributable to any particular operating segment are separately disclosed within
reconciling items.
The two main operating units are as follows:



North America and China, managed from the Ottawa office.



Europe and rest of world, managed from the Bristol office.

Reconciling items comprise corporate administration costs, stock-based compensation,
professional fees, depreciation of property, plant and equipment, bank charges and interest
and foreign exchange differences. Corporate administration costs include employment costs
of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Finance Officer, directors’ fees, directors’ and
officers' liability insurance, and shareholder and investor services expenses.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(v) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards:
The Company has adopted the following new or amended accounting standards:
Amendments to IAS 7: Statement of Cash Flows (“IAS 7”)
In January 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 7. These amendments require entities
to provide disclosures that help users of the financial statements to better understand
changes in liabilities that arise from financing activities, including both changes arising from
cash flow and non-cash changes. These amendments became effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2017. The company adopted the amendments on June 1,
2017. The adoption of these amendments did not have a material impact on the consolidated
financial statements.
Amendments to IAS 12: Income Taxes (“IAS 12”)
In January 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 12. The amendments clarify the
accounting for deferred tax assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at fair
value. These amendments became effective for annual periods beginning on or after January
1, 2017. The company adopted the amendments on June 1, 2017. The adoption of these
amendments did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(v) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards (continued):
New standards and amendments yet to be adopted:
At the date of approval of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, certain new
standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published but
are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Company. These standards will
be adopted at the effective date.
Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Company’s
accounting policy for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement.
Information on new standards, amendments and interpretations that are expected to be
relevant to the Company’s consolidated financial statements is provided below. Certain other
new standards and interpretations have been issued, but are not expected to have an impact
on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 2: Share Based Payments (“IFRS 2”)
In June 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2. The amendments, which were
developed through the IFRS Interpretations Committee, provide requirements for accounting
for the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled
share-based payments. They also provide guidance on the accounting for share-based
payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax obligations; and a
modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that changes the
classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled. These amendments are to
be applied prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting the amendments on the
consolidated financial statements. The company will adopt the amendments on June 1, 2018.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(v) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards (continued):
IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, bringing together the classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting phases of the project to replace IAS
39, Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This standard simplifies the
classification of a financial asset as either at amortized cost or at fair value as opposed to the
multiple classifications which were permitted under IAS 39. This standard also requires the
use of a single impairment method as opposed to the multiple methods in IAS 39. The
approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in the
context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
assets. The standard also adds guidance on the classification and measurement of financial
liabilities. IFRS 9 is to be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2018.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated
financial statements. The company will adopt the new standard on June 1, 2018.

IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, which provides a single, principles-based five-step
model for revenue recognition to be applied to all customer contracts and requires enhanced
disclosures. The standard also provides guidance relating to recognition of customer
acquisition costs. In April 2016, the IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 in relation to the
identification of performance obligations, principal versus agent considerations, as well as
licensing application guidance. This standard will be effective January 1, 2018 and allows
early adoption. The two permitted transition methods under the new standard are the full
retrospective method, in which case the standard would be applied to each prior reporting
period presented, or the modified retrospective method, in which case the cumulative effect
of applying the standard would be recognized at the date of initial application.
The company is still evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated
financial statements. The company will adopt the new standard on June 1, 2018.
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued):
(v) New standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards (continued):
IFRS 16, “Leases”
In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, Leases, which specifies how to recognize,
measure present and disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting
model, requiring lessees to recognize all assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease
term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value. Consistent with its
predecessor, IAS 17, the new lease standard continues to require lessors to classify leases
as operating or finance. IFRS 16 is to be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted if IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers has also been applied.
The Company does not intend to adopt this standard early and is currently evaluating the
impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements.

4. Segment reporting:
In fiscal 2018 and 2017, the Company operated in the energy efficiency industry in North
America, Europe, China and Rest of the World. The Company markets, sells, engineers,
fabricates, constructs, installs and supports two technology lines - heat recovery solutions
and condensate return system solutions. The Company is also developing a third technology
line - low temperature biomass drying systems. Assets are located in Canada, Europe and
China.
Management reporting comprises analysis of revenue and gross profit within two distinct
geographical areas. All other items of revenue and expenses are considered on a
geographical and/or global basis in making strategic decisions regarding the Company’s
future. The Company has two operational bases (“reporting units”), one in Ottawa, Canada
covering North America and China, and the other in Bristol, United Kingdom, covering Europe
and the rest of the world. These areas are determined by proximity of the region to the
reporting unit, plus the location of the contracts in existence with agents and distributors in
the respective areas and the historical relationships with those agents and distributors.
Corporate costs that cannot easily be attributed to either of the two reporting units are
included in reconciling items. The chief operating decision maker focuses on revenues and
costs by geographical segments, but manages assets and liabilities on a global basis.
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4. Segment reporting (continued):
Segment information for the year ended May 31, 2018 and the comparative year are detailed in
the table below:
Thermal Energy Ottawa
2018
$

2017
$

Thermal Energy Bristol
2018
$

Reconciling Items

2017
$

2018
$

2017
$

-

-

Total
2018
$

Total revenue from external
customers
Cost of sales

12,505,454
(7,408,364)

4,902,757
6,357,723
(2,886,324) (1,665,824)

6,834,384
(2,867,208)

Gross profit
Other expenses
Finance revenue

5,097,090
(3,288,837)
32,225

3,236,933
3,471,399
(2,885,103) (3,340,178)
11,523

3,967,176
(2,859,750)
-

(1,216,229) (1,112,745)

2017
$

17,408,211 13,192,107
(9,074,188) (5,753,532)
8,334,023
7,438,575
(7,845,244) (6,857,598)
32,225
11,523

Income (loss) before taxation
Tax (expense) recovery

1,840,478
(22,391)

597,819
(102,766)

(103,245)
23,950

1,107,426
(188,459)

(1,216,229) (1,112,745)
96,916
91,457

521,004
98,475

592,500
(199,768)

Profit (loss) after taxation

1,818,087

495,053

(79,295)

918,967

(1,119,313) (1,021,288)

619,479

392,732

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

1,832,463
(14,376)

541,991
(46,938)

(74,152)
(5,143)

894,177
24,790

(1,119,313) (1,021,288)
-

638,998
(19,519)

414,880
(22,148)

Reconciling items comprise the following:
2018
Corporate administration costs
Stock-based compensation
Professional fees
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Bank charges and interest
Foreign exchange differences

$

946,288
49,606
141,524
44,342
33,306
1,163

Total

$ 1,216,229

2017
$

894,136
117,266
137,418
38,114
36,143
(110,332)

$ 1,112,745

Corporate administration costs include directors’ fees, all costs relating to both the CEO and
CFO, directors and officers’ insurance, corporate legal costs, public relations costs, professional
fees relating to group tax planning and corporate filing costs as well as the Annual General
Meeting.
During the year ended May 31, 2018, the Company had one customer that accounted for 22.4%
and another customer accounted for 10.0% of total consolidated revenue in North America for the
year.
During the year ended May 31, 2017, the Company had one customer in North America that
accounted for 10.2% of total consolidated revenue for the year.
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4. Segment reporting (continued):
Further geographical analysis:
Sales for the year

Property, plant and

Goodwill and intangibles

Finance lease receivable

ended

equipment as at

assets as at

(non-current) as at

May 31,

May 31,

May 31,

2018

2017

2018

$

$

$

2017
$

41,789

40,984

35,606

35,639

May 31,

2018

2017

2018

$

$

$

Canada

5,274,196

1,708,140

U.S.A.

7,231,259

4,649,583

U.K.

3,793,527

4,561,505

Italy

291,663

1,454,195

–

–

–

Germany

173,145

189,388

–

–

Norway

122,870

–

Rest of world

109,307

19,412

India

103,854

Netherlands

–

–

–
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

86,912

–

–

–

–

–

–

85,652

63,338

–

–

–

–

–

–

Rest of Europe

78,204

171,896

–

–

–

–

–

–

Kenya

73,551

38,187

–

–

–

–

–

–

Ireland

70,983

83,446

–

–

–

–

–

–

Greece

–

166,105

–

–

–

–

–

–

17,408,211

13,192,107

Total

77,395

76,623

1,856,739

1,856,739

–

$
182,399

–

–

–

93,257

–

2017

1,874,529

1,874,529

93,257

182,399

5. Cash and cash equivalents:
Cash equivalents consist of excess cash invested in money market funds.
2018

2017

Cash
Cash equivalents

$ 3,281,708
500

$ 2,949,640
500

Cash and cash equivalents

$ 3,282,208

$ 2,950,140
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6. Trade and other receivables:
2018
Trade receivables, gross
Allowance for doubtful accounts

2017

$ 1,765,479
(23,074)

Trade receivables, net

2,299,892
(15,617)

1,742,405

2,284,275

95,372
55,476
293,500
562,887

35,698
23,090
101,939
261,122

$ 2,749,640

$ 2,706,124

Contracts for heat recovery solutions (see note 6(a))
Unbilled product and service revenue (see note 6(b))
Prepayments
Sales tax and other miscellaneous receivables

The net carrying value of trade receivables is considered a reasonable approximation of fair
value. Other miscellaneous receivables include $37,922 ($36,370 at May 31, 2017) due from a
Chinese distributor receiving payments on the Company’s behalf from a Chinese customer, which
is net of a provision of $69,778.
At May 31, 2018, $165,420 (9.3%) of the Company’s trade receivables balance was over 90 days
past due ($46,840 (2.0%) at May 31, 2017). $23,074 of the past due balance was impaired at
May 31, 2018 ($15,617 at May 31, 2017).
The change in allowance for doubtful accounts was as follows:
2018

2017

Balance, beginning of year
Provisions
Foreign exchange adjustments

$

15,617
7,605
(148)

$

12,157
4,240
(780)

Balance, end of year

$

23,074

$

15,617

The Company’s trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators of impairment. For
the year ended May 31, 2018, provisions were made of $7,605 and recorded under administrative
expenses. For the year ended May 31, 2017, a provision of $4,240 was made.
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6. Trade and other receivables (continued):
(a) Contracts for heat recovery solutions:
Certain amounts recognized in the statements of financial position relate to contracts in
progress at the end of the reporting year. The amounts are calculated as the net amounts of
costs incurred plus recognized profits, less recognized losses and progress billings. The
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are analyzed as follows:

2018
Aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognized
profits and losses for all contracts in progress
Less progress billings

2017

$ 2,246,577
(2,734,831)

$ 4,886,412
(6,389,100)

$ (488,254)

$ (1,502,688)

Recognized as:
2018
Due from customers for contract work, recognized
in trade and other receivables
Due to customers for contract work, recognized
in deferred revenue (note 15)

$

95,372

2017

$

35,698

(583,626)

(1,538,386)

$ (488,254)

$ (1,502,688)
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6. Trade and other receivables (continued):
(b) Unbilled product and service revenue:
The amounts included within unbilled product and services revenue are calculated as the net
amounts of costs incurred plus recognized profits, less recognized losses and progress
billings. The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities are analyzed as follows:
2018
Aggregate amount of costs incurred and recognized
profits and losses for all contracts in progress
Less progress billings

2017

$ 1,237,965
(1,283,487)

$

98,079
(163,420)

$

(45,522)

$

(65,341)

$

55,476

$

23,090

Recognized as:
Due from customer for product and services performed,
recognized in trade and other receivables
Due to customer for products and services
not delivered yet, recognized in deferred
revenue (note 15)

(100,998)

$

(45,522)

(88,431)

$

(65,341)

7. Inventory:
Inventory is comprised of partly finished products purchased from suppliers and held in inventory
pending finishing to the customers’ requirements.
For the year ended May 31, 2018, a total of $877,423 of inventories was expensed to cost of
sales (2017 - $898,634). A total of $nil of inventories (2017 - $nil) were written off as slowmoving. No reversal of previous write-downs has been recorded during the years ended May 31,
2018 or May 31, 2017.
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8. Finance lease receivable:
The Company’s finance lease receivable includes the following:
2018
Total estimated minimum lease payments receivable
Less: unearned income

$

Less: current portion
$

209,607
(27,209)

2017
$

319,161
(59,434)

182,398

259,727

(89,141)

(77,328)

93,257

$

182,399

Finance lease receivable relates to one arrangement. The estimated minimum lease payments
receivable in this lease represent the estimated monthly energy outputs of the leased asset and
are based on assumptions regarding the efficiency of the asset, the operations of the plant in
which it is located and penalty payments resulting from temporary plant shut-downs.
On December 31, 2012, the lease with Fortress Specialty Cellulose, as signed on June 29, 2010,
expired. On November 27, 2012, an agreement was signed whereby the customer agreed to
purchase the recovered energy for a further two years, after which the customer had the option to
renew for an additional 24 months on substantially the same terms or purchase the asset from
the Company.
On December 22, 2013, the site commenced a market downtime for a period of ten weeks,
following the imposition of an interim duty in China on the import of Canadian dissolving pulp,
further to which on April 11, 2014, an agreement was made to further extend the existing lease by
five months to mid-May 2015.
On May 1, 2015, the customer signed a further extension for 24 months to May 1, 2017. Pursuant
to this new extension, the customer has agreed to pay up to $12,000 per month over two years,
at the end of which the customer has the option to purchase the asset from the Company.
On May 1, 2017, a final extension agreement was signed for 36 months to May 1, 2020. Pursuant
to this new extension, the customer has agreed to pay up to $9,500 per month over three years,
at the end of which the customer assumes full ownership of the equipment.
Until the expiry of the new lease on May 1, 2020, finance revenue will be recognized within the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income at the interest rate implicit in the lease.
The estimated minimum lease payments receivable in this lease represent the estimated monthly
energy outputs of the leased asset and are based on assumptions regarding the efficiency of the
asset and the operations of the plant in which it is located.
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8. Finance lease receivable (continued):
Future estimated minimum lease payments receivable, and expected residual value of equipment
at the end of the lease, under the sales-type lease are as follows:

Less than one year
Between two and three years
Residual value

$

$

109,554
100,053
209,607

The finance lease receivable at the end of the reporting year is neither past due nor impaired.
9. Property, plant and equipment:

Plant and

Furniture

Laboratory

Equipment

and

Equipment

Computers

Improve-

Fixtures
$
Cost, May 31, 2016

137,309

Motor

Total

Vehicles

ments

$

$

103,080

Additions

20,338

Translation adjustments

(6,636)

(283)

Cost, May 31, 2017

Leasehold

–

$

52,857

323,885

$

$

$

22,877

8,118

648,126

–

17,826

–

–

(4,069)

–

38,164
(11,673)
674,617

151,011

102,797

337,642

22,877

7,433

Additions

22,577

–

–

26,973

–

–

49,551

Disposals

(5,475)

–

–

(3,134)

–

–

(8,609)

Translation adjustments

52,857

–
(685)

(831)

(29)

167,282

102,768

52,857

360,948

22,877

Accumulated depreciation, May 31, 2016

89,268

99,844

52,857

302,812

22,877

Depreciation for the year

16,296

2,199

–

17,809

–

1,810

38,114

Translation adjustments

(5,965)

(283)

–

(3,436)

–

(125)

(9,809)

Accumulated depreciation, May 31, 2017

99,599

101,760

52,857

317,185

22,877

3,716

Depreciation for the year

20,498

1,036

–

21,142

–

1,666

44,342

Disposals

(3,558)

–

–

(812)

–

–

(4,370)

(792)

(28)

–

(584)

–

137

(1,267)

Cost, May 31, 2018

Translation adjustments

–

(533)

–

(71)

(1,464)

7,362

714,094

2,031

569,689

597,994

Accumulated depreciation,
May 31, 2018

115,747

102,768

52,857

336,931

22,877

5,519

636,699

Net book value, May 31, 2017

51,412

1,037

–

20,457

–

3,717

76,623

Net book value, May 31, 2018

51,535

-

–

24,017

–

1,843

77,395

During the year ended May 31, 2018, the Company disposed of depreciated assets with a net
book value of $4,239 for $9,157 in proceeds.
During the year ended May 31, 2017, the Company did not dispose of any assets.
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9. Property, plant and equipment (continued):
There are no property, plant and equipment held under finance leases and no items of property,
plant or equipment are subject to restrictions of title or pledged as security.

10. Intangible assets:
Trade

Non-

Industrial

Names &

compete

Know-

&

Customer

Trademarks

Agreement

how

Drawings

Relationships

Total

$

$

$

$
1,579,990

$

$

Designs

Cost, May 31, 2016

873,495

113,934

133,025

146,216

313,320

Translation adjustments

(73,693)

(9,612)

(11,316)

(12,336)

(26,435)

(133,392)

Cost, May 31, 2017

799,802

104,322

121,709

133,880

286,885

1,446,598

Translation adjustments

(7,589)

(990)

(1,155)

(1,271)

(2,722)

(13,727)

792,213

103,332

120,554

132,609

284,163

1,432,871

Accumulated amortization, May 31, 2016

167,565

113,934

133,025

146,216

313,320

874,060

Translation adjustments

(14,136)

(9,612)

(11,316)

(12,336)

(26,435)

(73,835)

Accumulated amortization, May 31, 2017

153,429

104,322

121,709

133,880

286,885

800,225

(1,454)

(990)

(1,155)

(1,271)

(2,722)

(7,592)

Accumulated amortization, May 31, 2018

151,975

103,332

120,554

132,609

284,163

792,633

Net Book Value, May 31, 2017

646,373

–

–

–

–

646,373

Net Book Value, May 31, 2018

640,238

–

–

–

–

640,238

Cost, May 31, 2018

Translation adjustments

Trade Names and Trademarks are intangible assets with indefinite lives and are not subject to
amortization. Trade Names and Trademarks relate specifically to the GEMTM product. They are
tested for impairment at each year-end. No impairment was recognized for the year ended May
31, 2018 or May 31, 2017. The growth rates attributed by Management to the GEM TM product line
are 10% in 2019, followed by positive 10% in each of the subsequent four years. This is higher
than the compound annual growth rate over the previous six years of 5%. The Company
continued to invest in its sales force in the year ended May 31, 2018. As a result, the Company is
expecting higher growth rates in sales due to the increased number of experienced sales staff
within the UK and North America. The royalty rate applied to the revenues for the purposes of
impairment testing is 2.5%. All other assumptions relating to the calculation of the pre-tax
discount rate are as detailed in Goodwill (note 11).
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11. Goodwill:
Goodwill arose as a result of the acquisition of Gardner Energy Management Limited on July 1,
2008. Goodwill consists of the following amounts:
2018

2017

Balance, beginning of year
Translation adjustments

$ 1,228,156
(11,655)

$ 1,341,316
(113,160)

Balance, end of year

$ 1,216,501

$ 1,228,156

Goodwill was tested for impairment as at each year end, resulting in no impairment charge as at
May 31, 2018 or May 31, 2017. For the purpose of annual impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to the following cash-generating units, which are the units expected to benefit from the
synergies of the business combinations in which the goodwill arises: Thermal Energy
International (UK) Limited and GEMChem Limited, a 67% owned subsidiary of Thermal Energy
International (UK) Limited.
The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each cash-generating unit as at May 31 was as
follows:

Thermal Energy International (UK) Limited
GEMchem Limited

2018

2017

$ 1,037,392
179,109

$ 1,047,331
180,825

$ 1,216,501

$ 1,228,156

The recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units were determined based on value-in-use
calculations, covering a one-year budget, followed by an extrapolation over four further years of
expected cash flows to be derived from the cash-generating units assuming growth rates as set
out below, and applying a pre-tax discount rate of 19% (2017 - 18%) for both cash-generating
units. The pre-tax discount rate used represents the weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”)
of each cash-generating unit, which includes the cost of equity and the cost of debt. The cost of
equity was computed as 19% (2017 - 18%) for each cash-generating unit, incorporating the
following factors: market risk premium adjusted for the target levered beta, based upon
comparable companies, the risk-free rate of return and a size and company specific risk premium.
The cost of debt was assumed as the risk-free rate plus a premium of 3%. In computing the
WACC, a capital structure comprising 15% (2017 - 15%) debt and 85% (2017 - 85%) equity was
assumed, after considering the capital structure of comparable companies.
For purposes of the May 31, 2018 impairment testing, Thermal Energy International (UK)
Limited’s growth from 2018 to 2019 was assumed to be 58%, as per the detailed budget prepared
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11. Goodwill (continued):
with 7% per annum thereafter. This growth is the result of a combination of the level of
experience of the existing sales force in both Europe and North America, as well as additional
sales representation in Europe, while allowing for unknown changes in the global economic
climate following the decision of the UK to leave the European Union.
GEMChem Limited’s growth from 2018 to 2019 was assumed to be 9%, as per the detailed
budget prepared with subsequent growth of 10% in 2020 through to 2023. The future expected
growth is the result of additional sales staff in 2019.
This is based on a combination of historical results, which demonstrate steady increases year on
year, plus anticipated additional sales from existing sales staff plus new agents.
Summary of rates used:

Cash Generating Unit
Thermal Energy International
(UK)

GEMchem

Year 1
Year 2
Year 3
Year 4
Year 5
Year 1
Year 2
Year 3
Year 4
Year 5

Average Revenue Growth
rates
2018
2017
58%
7%
7%
7%
7%
8%
7%
8%
7%
8%
9%
1%
10%
10%
10%
10%
10%
10%
10%
10%

Discount rates
2018

2017

19%

18%

19%

18%

Apart from the considerations described above in determining value-in-use of the cash-generating
units, management is not currently aware of any other factors that would necessitate changes in
its key estimates.
Management’s key assumptions include stable gross profit margins, based on past experience in
the market. The Company’s management believes that this is the best available input for
forecasting. Cash flow projections reflect stable gross profit margins achieved immediately before
the budget period. No expected efficiency improvements have been taken into account and prices
and wages reflect forecasts of inflation for the industry. There is significant estimation uncertainty
involved in the determination of the recoverable amount of cash generating units.

12. Short-term borrowings:
The Company has an authorized credit facility of up to approximately $431,000 dependent on the
level of certain UK accounts receivable balances. The available facility as at May 31, 2018 was in
the amount of $157,000 (May 31, 2017 - $435,000), of which $Nil was utilized as at May 31, 2018
(May 31, 2017 - $Nil).
The Company has cancelled the credit facility effective June 29, 2018.
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13. Trade payables:
Trade payables recognized in the statements of financial position can be summarized as follows:

Trade payables

2018

2017

$ 1,808,139

$ 1,744,032

All amounts are short-term. The carrying values of trade payables are considered to be a
reasonable approximation of fair value.

14. Other liabilities:
Other liabilities can be summarized as follows:
2018
Accruals
Other government remittances payable

2017

$ 1,575,704
189,993

$

906,034
122,698

$ 1,765,697

$ 1,028,732

Included in accruals is $29,875 due to directors ($35,350 at May 31, 2017).

15. Deferred revenue:

Deferred revenue relating to heat recovery
solutions (note 6(a))
Deferred revenue relating to GEMTM product
and services (note 6(b))
$

2018

2017

583,625

1,538,386

100,998

88,431

684,623

$ 1,626,817

All amounts are short-term and will be settled within the next reporting year.
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16. Provisions:
The change in provisions was as follows:
Legal
provision

Warranty
provision

Total
provisions

Balance, beginning of year
Additions
Deductions
Translation adjustments

$ 190,000
-

$ 42,387
44,003
(44,003)
(165)

$ 232,387
44,003
(44,003)
(165)

Balance, end of year

$ 190,000

$ 42,222

$ 232,222

On October 25, 2005, the Company was served with a statement of claim from its past President.
Among other things, the lawsuit alleges that the former president was wrongfully dismissed from
his employment. Damages are claimed in the approximate amount of $4 million, plus an as yet
undetermined value of share options, interest and legal costs. The Company has filed a
statement of defence in response and has counterclaimed for approximately $5 million in
damages plus interest and costs.
Two attempts have been made at a mediated settlement. Neither attempt has been successful.
Although the lawsuit was commenced in October, 2005, the plaintiff has yet to take the
proceeding to the point of oral examinations for discovery.
In May, 2010, the plaintiff brought a motion for summary judgment, seeking judgment in the
amount of $1,105,047 plus interest and costs. This amount is comprised of: i) $398,737 allegedly
owing as a result of wrongful dismissal and calculated as 24 months of salary, commissions, and
related benefits; ii) $618,810 in alleged unpaid loans and advances; and iii) $87,500 in stock
options which are alleged to have vested. The motion was heard on September 6 and 7, 2011
and on October 18, 2011, a decision was rendered. In its decision on the motion for summary
judgment the court: i) Allowed the plaintiff's claim for wrongful dismissal assessing the damages
for the plaintiff's wrongful dismissal at the equivalent of 18 months of pay in lieu of notice of
termination; ii) Dismissed the plaintiff's claim for alleged unpaid loans and advances; iii) Permitted
the remainder of the parties' claims and counterclaims to proceed to trial; iv) Declined to fix the
amount of the damages for pay in lieu of notice of termination, suggesting instead that the parties
try to agree on the amount; v) Stated that in the absence of the parties' agreement on the amount
of damages for pay in lieu of notice of termination, the issue is to be referred to a Master; and vi)
Stayed the execution of the partial summary judgment pending the determination of the
outstanding claims at trial. The plaintiff has been awarded approximately $37,000 in costs to date
and the Company has paid this amount. The parties have not yet discussed or agreed on the
amount of the damages for wrongful dismissal, and there has, as yet, been no reference to a
Master.
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16. Provisions (continued):
The past President appealed from the dismissal of his claims for unpaid loans and advances. On
September 25, 2012, the Court of Appeal for Ontario dismissed the appeal and ordered the
appellant to pay the Company $8,000 toward its legal costs. As such, the remainder of the
parties’ claims and counterclaims will proceed to trial. In the event the past President and the
Company cannot agree on the damages for his wrongful dismissal claim, the matter will be
determined by the court.
Until the remaining issues are determined, it is unclear what the net balance payable between the
parties will be and to which party it is to be paid and the ultimate net impact of the partial
judgment on the Company remains unknown at present. While the Company is confident in the
merits of its own case, there is much that is still unknown about the past President's case and the
basis for his damages claim. In November 2009, the Company recorded a provision of $190,000
in its financial statements. This provision remains unchanged and is intended to account for future
net liabilities resulting from the claim and the counterclaim.
Other than the legal provision of $190,000, the Company has another provision of $42,222 for
warranty.
17. Capital stock:
Authorized:
Unlimited number of Class A common shares, no par value.
Unlimited number of Series 1 preferred shares, voting only in the case of dissolution of the
Company, redeemable at the option of the Company, at $0.01 per share and convertible to
common shares on a 1 to 1 basis at the rate of 20% of the number originally issued per year.
Outstanding:
Year ended
May 31, 2018
# Shares
$
Class A Common shares issued
Balance, beginning of year
Share options exercised(1)
Balance, end of year
(1)

159,088,950
159,088,950

32,231,329
32,231,329

Year ended
May 31, 2017
# Shares
$
157,834,616
1,254,334
159,088,950

32,069,073
162,256
32,231,329

For the year ended May 31, 2018, no share options were exercised. For the year ended May 31,
2017,1,254,334 shares were issued following the exercise of stock options, resulting in an increase to capital
stock of $162,256 and a reduction in contributed surplus of $41,780.
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17. Capital stock (continued):
Normal Course Issuer Bid:
During the 12-month period commencing February 15, 2016 and ending February 15, 2017, the
Company was able to purchase on the TSX up to 12,758,701 common shares, representing
approximately 8% of the then issued and outstanding common shares, pursuant to a Normal
Course Issuer Bid as approved by the TSX Venture Exchange on February 12, 2016.
The previously announced Normal Course Issuer Bid expired on February 15, 2017. There has
been no Normal Course Issuer Bid activity for the year ended May 31, 2018 or May 31, 2017.

18. Capital management:
The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain flexible capital structure for its projects for the
benefit of its stakeholders. In the management of capital, the Company includes the components
of equity attributable to the owners of the parent, excluding accumulated other comprehensive
income, which at May 31, 2018 totalled $3,874,223 (May 31, 2017 - $3,185,619). The Company
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Company may issue new shares. Management reviews the capital structure on a
regular basis to ensure that objectives are met.
The Company's share capital is not subject to external restrictions.
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19. Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries:
The following table summarizes the information relating to each of the Company’s subsidiaries
that has non-controlling interests (NCI), before any intra-group eliminations.
There are no significant restrictions on the ability to access or use assets and settle liabilities of
the group. There are no contractual arrangements that could require the parent or its subsidiaries
to provide financial support to a consolidated structured entity.

NCI percentage

Year ended May 31, 2018
TEI
GEMchem (Guangzhou)
Ltd.
Ltd.
Total
$
$
$
33%
45%

Year ended May 31, 2017
TEI
GEMchem
(Guangzhou)
Ltd.
Ltd.
Total
$
$
$
33%
45%

Non-current assets
Current assets
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Net assets (liabilities)
Carrying amount of NCI

377,294
673
158,768
217,853
71,892

82,673
356,127
(273,454)
(123,054)

459,967
673
514,895
(55,601)
(51,162)

574
414,353
680
152,884
261,363
86,249

–
97,873
–
333,307
(235,434)
(105,944)

574
512,226
680
486,191
25,929
(19,695)

Revenue
Profit (loss) after tax
Total comprehensive income
(loss)
Profit (loss) allocated to NCI
Comprehensive income
(loss)allocated to NCI

962,261
(15,586)

1,092
(31,947)

963,353
(47,533)

912,151
75,120

(104,305)

912,151
(29,185)

(18,387)
(5,143)

(38,019)
(14,376)

(56,407)
(19,519)

56,154
24,790

(105,246)
(46,938)

(49,092)
(22,148)

(6,068)

(17,108)

(23,176)

18,532

(47,361)

(28,829)

(57,852)

(47,600)

(105,452)

86,105

(36,115)

49,990

(2,721)

–

(2,721)

(25,124)

30,052

4,928

(25,394)

40,395

15,001

(85,697)

(17,548)

(103,245)

60,711

4,280

64,991

Cash flows from operating
activities
Cash flows from investing
activities
Cash flows from financing
activities
Net increase (decrease) in
cash and cash equivalents

–

–

–

20. Share-based payments:
The Company established the Company's Share Option Plan applicable to directors, officers and
full-time and part-time employees of the Company. In the plan, the aggregate number of options
may not exceed 20% of the outstanding shares and the total number of shares to be optioned to
any optionee may not exceed 5% of the number of issued and outstanding shares as at the
option granting date. The options are granted with an exercise price equal to the market value of
the common shares of the Company at the date of grant, less any permissible discounts, and
may be exercised at any time after the vesting date, not to exceed five years from the date of
granting. The vesting term for options granted is at the discretion of the Board of Directors.

42

THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

20. Share-based payments (continued):
Activity in stock options was as follows:
Year ended
May 31, 2018
Weighted
Average
#
Exercise Price
Options
$

Year ended
May 31, 2017
Weighted
Average
#
Exercise Price
Options
$

Outstanding, beginning of year
Granted
Forfeited
Exercised

20,495,531
-

0.08
-

22,718,720
500,000
(1,468,855)
(1,254,334)

0.08
0.12
0.08
0.10

Outstanding, end of year
Options exercisable, end of year

20,495,531
19,145,531

0.08
0.08

20,495,531
13,050,672

0.08
0.09

There were no options exercised for the year ended May 31, 2018.
The following tables summarize information about stock options outstanding:
At May 31, 2018:

Options outstanding

Range of exercise
prices
0.05-0.07
0.07-0.10
0.10-0.12

Options exercisable

Number
outstanding
May 31, 2018
5,991,500
4,071,360
10,432,671

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual life
1.84
1.97
0.46

Weighted
average
exercise price
0.05
0.08
0.10

20,495,531

1.16

0.08

Number
exercisable at
May 31, 2018
4,974,833
4,071,360
10,099,338

Weighted
average
exercise price
0.05
0.08
0.10

19,145,531

0.08

At May 31, 2017:

Options outstanding

Range of exercise
prices
0.05-0.07
0.07-0.10
0.10-0.12

Number
outstanding
May 31, 2018
5,991,500
4,071,360
10,432,671
20,495,531

Options exercisable

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual life
2.87
2.97
1.05

Weighted
average
exercise price
0.05
0.08
0.10

1.96

0.08

Number
exercisable at
May 31, 2018
2,754,000
1,357,121
8,939,551
13,050,672

Weighted
average
exercise price
0.05
0.08
0.10
0.09
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20. Share-based payments (continued):
The fair value of services received in return for share options granted is based on the fair value of
share options granted, measured using the Black-Scholes model. As at May 31, 2018, there was
$15,604 (May 31, 2017 - $65,209) of total unrecognized share-based compensation costs related
to unvested stock option awards granted under the Plan, which are expected to be recognized
over a term of three years.
The following inputs were used in the measurement of the fair values at grant date of the sharebased payment plans:
28-Nov-16
Grant date share price ($)(1)
Exercise price ($)
Expected volatility (%)(2)
Expected life (years)
Expected dividend yield (%)
Risk-free interest rate (%)
Forfeiture rate (%)
(1)
(2)

0.12
0.12
97.75
4.00
0.00
0.95
17.00

The closing market price of the shares on the TSX Venture Exchange on the date of grant or the first day of trading
immediately following the date of grant if no shares traded on the grant date.
The expected volatility was based on historical volatility of the Company over a period of time that is commensurate
with the expected life of the options.

Stock-based compensation expense related to the issuance of stock options is included in
administration, selling, marketing and business development expenses and is broken down as
follows:
2018
Administration
Rendering of services

2017

$

36,382
13,224

$

77,446
39,820

$

49,606

$

117,266
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21. Revenue:

Sales of goods
Rendering of services
Contracts for heat recovery solutions

2018

2017

$ 4,914,665
1,747,628
10,745,918

$ 5,505,564
1,393,773
6,292,770

$17,408,211

$13,192,107

Finance revenue comprises interest income earned from the finance lease. See note 8 “Finance
lease receivable” for more details.

22. Employee benefits expense:

Salaries and benefits
Stock-based compensation (note 20)
Pension charge

2018

2017

$ 5,264,086
49,606
98,684

$ 5,043,148
117,266
62,893

$ 5,412,376

$ 5,223,307

The Company contributes to defined contribution pension plans for permanent employees of two
of its subsidiaries. The Company matches employee contributions. The plans and their assets
are held by independent managers. The pension charge represents contributions paid by the
Company.

23. Other significant expenses:
Other significant expenses included in administration expense are as follows:
2018
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 9)
Foreign exchange loss (gain)

$

44,342
(612)

2017
$

38,114
(110,332)
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24. Income taxes:
The Company’s effective tax rate differs from the combined federal and provincial income tax rate
in Canada. This difference comes from the following items:
2018
Income before income taxes
Income taxes calculated using combined
federal and provincial income tax rates
in Canada of 26.50% (2017 – 26.50%)
Stock-based compensation
Difference in tax rate of foreign subsidiaries
Tax effect of temporary difference for which
no deferred tax asset is recorded
Difference in future tax rates
Permanent differences and others

2017

$

521,004

$

592,500

$

138,066
13,146
31,658

$

157,012
31,075
(12,586)

(345,879)
64,534

(15,687)
(802)
40,756

Current and deferred income tax provision

$

(98,475)

$

199,768

Current
Deferred

$

3,381
(101,856)

$

140,815
58,953

$

(98,475)

$

199,768

$

11,316
(7,935)

$

140,722
93

$

3,381

$

140,815

Major components of the current tax expense are as follows:
Statutory income tax of the year
Adjustment for prior years
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24. Income taxes (continued):
Major components of the deferred tax expense are as follows:
2018
Origination and reversal of timing differences
Difference in future tax rates
Change in enacted tax rates
Tax effect of temporary difference for which
no tax asset is recorded

$

(101,856)
-

2017
$

$

94,609
(802)
(19,167)
(15,687)

(101,856)

$

58,953

Change in deferred tax balances in 2018:

June 1,
2017
$
Provisions
Property, plant and equipment
Finance lease receivable
Non-capital losses
Intangible assets

Recognized
in income
$

Recognized
in other
comprehensive
income
$

May 31,
2018
$

91,811
280,900
(68,828)
(249,188)
(109,884)

(11,728)
37,125
20,492
59,904
-

(968)
280
1,043

79,115
318,305
(48,336)
(189,284)
(108,841)

(55,189)

105,793

355

50,959
51,632
(673)

Recognized as deferred tax assets
Recognized as deferred tax liabilities

50,959

Change in deferred tax balances in 2017:

June 1,
2016
$
Provisions
Property, plant and equipment
Finance lease receivable
Non-capital losses
Intangible assets

Recognized as deferred tax assets
Recognized as deferred tax liabilities

Recognized
in income
$

Recognized
in other
comprehensive
income
$

May 31,
2017
$

73,958
277,251
(30,888)
(175,690)
(141,186)

17,853
3,649
(37,940)
(73,498)
19,312

11,990

91,811
280,900
(68,828)
(249,188)
(109,884)

3,445

(70,624)

11,990

(55,189)
21,524
(76,713)
(55,189)
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24. Income taxes (continued):
At May 31, the Company had the following temporary differences for which no deferred tax asset
was recorded:
2018
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Provisions
Non-capital losses

$

929,241
2,739,157
190,000
12,689,535

$16,547,933

2017
$

827,979
2,739,157
190,000
14,139,550

$ 17,896,686

As at May 31, 2018, the Company had available non-capital income tax loss carry forwards in the
following amounts for which no deferred tax asset was recognized. These tax loss carry forwards
may be used to reduce federal and provincial taxable income:
Year of expiry

Amount

2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
2035
2037

1,677,997
1,441,849
3,486,435
3,032,173
714,141
43,753
1,537,989
171,250
380,280

Total

$ 12,485,867

As at May 31, 2018, the Company had non-capital losses in foreign subsidiaries, for which no
deferred tax asset was recorded in the amount of $203,668. All losses expire between 2019 and
2023.
Deferred tax liabilities have not been recognized for temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries as the parent is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of the temporary differences at May 31, 2018 was
$825,687 (2017 - $1,118,966).
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25. Earnings per share:
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended May 31, 2018 was
based on the net income attributable to owners of the parent of $638,998 (2017 - $414,880), a
weighted average number of basic common shares outstanding of 159,088,950 (2017 –
158,465,406) and a weighted average number of diluted common shares outstanding of
166,023,890 (2017 – 165,738,180).
The average market value of the Company’s shares for purposes of calculating the dilutive effect
of stock options was based on quoted market prices for the year during which options were
outstanding.
The following tables summarize the calculation of the weighted average number of basic and
diluted common shares:
2018

2017

Issued common shares at beginning of year
Effect of shares issued

159,088,950
-

157,834,616
630,790

Weighted average number of basic common
shares at end of year

159,088,950

158,465,406

6,838,890

7,272,774

165,927,840

165,738,180

Effect of stock options on issue
Weighted average number of diluted common
shares at end of year
26. Operating lease commitments:

Thermal Energy International Inc. and its UK subsidiary have entered into lease agreements for
the use of land and buildings, motor vehicles, telecommunication systems and other office
equipment. These leases range from one to five years with no renewal option included in the
contracts. There are no restrictions placed upon the Company by entering into these leases.
At May 31, 2018, the Company has operating lease commitments as follows:
Less than
1 year

Total
Operating leases

$

218,916

$

144,314

More than
5 years

1-5 years
$

74,602

$

-

Lease payments recognized as an expense for the year ended May 31, 2018 totalled $150,807
(2017 - $139,142).

49

THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

27. Financial instruments:
Financial risk management:
In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to financial risks that have the
potential to negatively impact its financial performance. The Company does not use derivative
financial instruments to manage these risks, as management believes the risks arising from the
Company’s financial instruments to be at an already acceptably low level. The Company has
exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: credit risk, market risk,
liquidity risk, and capital risk. These risks are discussed in more detail below.
a) Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates and foreign
exchange, will affect the Company’s net earnings or loss or the value of its financial
instruments. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk
exposures within acceptable limits, while maximizing returns.
(i) Foreign currency risk:
Foreign currency exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.
The following table shows the foreign currency exchange risk on the financial assets and
liabilities of the Company’s operations denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the different Company entities.
Net financial assets/(liabilities) in CAD$
Total
US $
Euro
CAD $
Functional currency of Company entity
May 31, 2018
Canadian Dollar
British Pound

1,154,941

–

–

144,691

1,154,941
144,691

1,154,941

144,691

1,299,632

1,133,586

–

1,133,586

–

493,203

493,203

1,133,586

493,203

1,626,789

May 31, 2017
Canadian Dollar
British Pound
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27. Financial instruments (continued):
Financial risk management (continued):
a) Market risk (continued):
(i) Foreign currency risk (continued):
A 10% strengthening of the following currencies against the Canadian dollar would have
had the following effect on operations and equity:
May 31, 2018

May 31, 2017

US$

Euros

Total

US$

Euros

Total

Net income

115,494

14,469

129,963

113,359

49,320

162,679

Equity

115,494

14,469

129,963

113,359

49,320

162,679

The Company operates internationally with subsidiaries in the United Kingdom and China
and operations in the United States. The Company earns revenues and incurs cost of
sales, administration, selling, marketing and business development expenses in U.S.
dollars, Euros and Chinese Renminbi. The majority of the foreign denominated
transactions are in U.S. dollars, GBP and Euros.
The Company does not enter into arrangements to hedge its foreign exchange risk. The
Company’s policy is to ensure that its net exposure is kept to an acceptable level by
buying or selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary to address short-term
imbalances.
(ii) Interest rate risk:
Interest rate risk is defined as the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of a change in market interest rates. The Company
minimizes risk by investing only with credit worthy banking institutions or draws on its
available facility with floating rate borrowings, as mentioned in liquidity risk above.
The Company currently does not use interest rate hedges or fixed interest rate contracts
to manage the Company’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations. There were no
significant investments or borrowings to expose the Company to interest rate sensitivity
either at May 31, 2018 or May 31, 2017.
(b) Credit risk:
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a
financial instrument fails to meet its obligations. The financial instruments that potentially
expose the Company to credit risk are trade receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other
miscellaneous receivables and finance lease receivable. Credit risk relating to the finance
lease receivable is considered to be low, based upon the payment history of the customer.
51

THERMAL ENERGY INTERNATIONAL INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended May 31, 2018 and 2017
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

27. Financial instruments (continued):
Financial risk management (continued):
(b) Credit risk (continued):
The Company’s management considers that all of the above financial assets that are not
impaired or past due at each of the reporting dates under review are of good credit quality.
Accounts receivable
Each new customer is assessed individually for creditworthiness before standard payment
and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Consideration is given to the country and
industry in which the customer operates, as well as maturity of the customer, existence of
previous financial difficulties and general reputation. Within the US market for GEM products,
a significant percentage of revenue is attributable to a small number of country-wide
distributors with whom the Company has a trading history of at least two years. Within the
European market for GEM products, credit insurance is available in accordance with the
existing borrowing facility held by the UK subsidiary. In the case of refused credit insurance, a
full or partial deposit is required from the customer which will at least cover the cost of
producing the goods. Documentary credits may be requested for larger orders to
geographical regions where credit insurance is not applicable. Goods are sold subject to
retention of title clauses, so that in the event of non-payment, the Company may have a
secured claim.
Contracts for heat recovery solutions are planned to help achieve positive cash flows
throughout the life of the project. A project may be halted pending payment by a customer,
thus preventing further commitments under the contract.
The amounts reported for trade receivables in the statement of financial position are net of
allowances for doubtful accounts. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the
reporting date is the carrying value of its cash and cash equivalents (see note 5), trade
receivables, other miscellaneous receivables (see note 6) and finance lease receivable. In
determining the fair value of the finance lease, the Company uses the discounted cash future
cash flows of the asset, being the minimum lease payments, discounted using a rate of
14.3% - rate implicit in the lease. The fair value of the finance lease receivable at May 31,
2018 was $209,608.
The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents is considered negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with high quality external credit ratings.
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27. Financial instruments (continued):
Financial risk management (continued):
(c) Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations of
its financial liabilities that are settled by cash or another financial asset. Liquidity risk
management serves to maintain a sufficient amount of cash and cash equivalents and to
ensure that the Company has financing sources such as bank loans for an authorized
amount. The Company continues to actively seek external financing to ensure it has the
necessary funds to fulfill its obligations. In addition, a UK subsidiary of the Company has
access to borrowings secured against certain accounts receivable.
As at May 31, 2018, the Company’s financial liabilities, which consist of trade payables and
accruals, have a carrying value of $3,573,836 ($2,772,764 at May 31, 2017) and are all due
within one year.
28. Related party transactions:
Related parties include the members of the Board of Directors and key management personnel,
as well as close family members and enterprises that are controlled by these individuals and
shareholders.
Transactions with key management personnel
Key management personnel of the Company include members of the Company’s Board of
Directors as well as members of the Company’s senior management team. Key management
personnel remuneration includes the following expenses:

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits
Share-based payments

2018

2017

989,966
28,045
$ 1,018,011

$ 1,013,940
54,376
$ 1,068,316

$

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits include cash payments for base salaries and
related social security costs and employee benefits, as well as payments made into defined
contribution pension plans of the Company’s UK based subsidiary, amounts expensed in the year
as due to key management personnel under the Company’s employee incentive plan, and
Directors’ fees including meeting fees, committee chairman fees and retainers. Share-based
payments include the fair value of equity settled share-based payment arrangements expensed
during the year.
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29. Subsequent events:
a) On June 29, 2018, Thermal Energy International Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Thermal Energy International Inc. acquired 100% of the shares of Boilerroom Equipment, Inc.
a privately held company which engineers and manufactures a brand of indirect contact heat
recovery units. The acquisition purchase price was USD$2,250,000, plus earn-out
consideration of up to USD$350,000 if certain growth and performance targets are achieved
over the next three years. The company financed this acquisition through a term loan in the
amount of USD$2,250,000 with a Canadian financial institution.
b) On September 18 and 19, 2018, an unknown party was able to access the Company’s US
dollar bank account with a major Canadian chartered bank and make two fraudulent bank
transfers totaling USD$263,412. The Company is working with its insurer, the Canadian
chartered bank, and a cyber security firm to recover the loss and understand how the
transfers were allowed to occur.
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Management Discussion and Analysis for the Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2018

Dated as of September 27, 2018
This Management Discussion and Analysis has been amended since it was first filed on September
28, 2018 to indicate that information is current as of September 27, 2018.

Introduction
This Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) explains the material changes in Thermal Energy
International Inc.’s (“Thermal Energy” or the “Company”) financial position and financial performance for the
fiscal year ended May 31, 2018 (or “FY 2018”), and compares the FY 2018 financial results to the previous
year ended May 31, 2017 (or “FY 2017”). The consolidated financial statements and notes to the
consolidated financial statements constitute an integral part of the discussion and should be read in
conjunction with this MD&A. Unless otherwise indicated, all comparisons to the fourth quarter of FY 2018
are against the fourth quarter of FY 2017. Additional information relating to the Company is available on
SEDAR at www.sedar.com.
Currency
All financial information in this report is stated in Canadian Dollars, which is both the presentation and
functional currency of the Company. Approximately 30% of our operations, assets and liabilities are
denominated in British Pound Sterling. As such, foreign currency fluctuations affect the reported values of
individual lines on our statement of financial position and income statement. When the Canadian dollar
strengthens, the reported values decrease and the opposite occurs when the Canadian dollar weakens.
Review and Approval by the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors, on recommendation of the Audit Committee, approved the content of this MD&A on
September 26, 2018.
Forward-Looking Statements
This MD&A may include statements that are forward-looking. These statements are not guarantees of future
performance and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially
from those in the forward-looking statements. We discuss the principal risks of our business in Section 7 of
this MD&A. We cannot provide any assurance that forecasted financial or operational performance will
actually be achieved. If it is achieved, we cannot provide assurance that it will result in an increase in our
share price. See Section 8 entitled “Forward-Looking Information”.
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1. Our Business
1.1 Company Overview
Thermal Energy, established in 1991, is a global provider of proprietary and proven energy and water
efficiency and emission reduction products and solutions to the industrial, commercial and institutional
markets. The Company is headquartered in Ottawa, Canada, with offices in the U.K., Italy, Germany, U.S.,
and China.
Thermal Energy engages clients through a unique mix of process, energy, environmental and financial
expertise to save our customers money and improve their bottom lines by reducing their fuel use and carbon
emissions. The Company’s award-winning products have an excellent track record of longevity, proven
reliability and performance and have been shown to provide: significant energy savings; improved water
efficiency; reduced greenhouse gas emissions; lower maintenance costs; improved product quality; and
increased production efficiency. Thermal Energy’s products are effective in a wide range of industries and
applications.
More information on Thermal Energy can be found at www.thermalenergy.com. GEMTM, FLU-ACE®,
THERMALONOx™ and DRY-REX™ are trademarks of Thermal Energy.
1.2 Core Businesses
The Company operates in the energy efficiency industry in North America, Europe, China and the rest of the
world. The Company markets, sells, engineers, fabricates, constructs, installs and supports two technology
lines – heat recovery solutions (FLU-ACE®) and condensate return system solutions (GEMTM steam traps).
The Company is also developing a third technology line - low temperature biomass drying systems (DRYREX™).
Before 2007, the Company concentrated mainly on the selling of heat recovery systems but had begun
selling GEMTM product through a distribution agreement with Gardner Energy Management Limited, based in
the U.K. In 2008, the Company acquired Gardner Energy Management Limited, which sells the GEMTM
product throughout the world. As part of this transaction, the Company also acquired the 67% share of
GEMchem Ltd, a U.K.-based water treatment company providing services within the U.K. only.
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The Company has two primary operational bases, one in Ottawa, Canada covering North America (“Thermal
Energy Ottawa”), and the other in Bristol, United Kingdom, covering Europe and the rest of the world
(“Thermal Energy Bristol”). Although the Ottawa base is deemed to be the center of excellence for FLUACE® heat recovery engineering and technical support, and Bristol the center of excellence for GEMTM
steam traps and condensate return system engineering and technical support, continuous cross-training
means that both bases have expertise across both major product lines.
Although the Company markets its products throughout the world, the majority of sales are from within North
America and Europe, due to the proximity to the Company’s bases. While this continues to be the key focus,
the Company also continues to look for new distributors in regions deemed to have potential.
1.3 Strategy
The Company’s mission is to be a best-in-class provider of return on investment-driven thermal energy
efficiency technology and solutions to the industrial, institutional, and commercial sectors, helping our clients
around the world improve their bottom line, move towards sustainable operations and reduce their
environmental and carbon footprint. The Company’s products and services are “best-in-class” with worldwide application in a broad range of sectors.
The Company has representation in 28 countries around the world with a current focus on the key markets
of North America and Europe. Thermal Energy’s penetration in these markets remains low and therefore
the Company plans to continue growing its sales and distribution capabilities in these markets while at the
same time begin to build its business in other energy-intensive markets around the world.
We have sold our proprietary and proven products to hundreds of companies and institutions, including
approximately 50 large companies in the pharmaceutical, food and beverage, pulp and paper, chemical and
petrochemical sectors.
With a global sales and distribution network the Company also has the opportunity to introduce new
synergistic products and services, and acquire complementary products and businesses that can be
distributed through our existing network.
Finally, the Company is also developing a number of recurring revenue streams such as rental and shared
savings programs as well as service and maintenance programs.

2. Performance Measures
The Company believes the following performance measures provide useful information to both management
and investors to better understand the financial performance and financial position of the Company.
2.1 Adjusted Operating Cash Flow
Adjusted operating cash flow (defined as income (loss) for the period, as adjusted for revenue recorded
upon signing of a finance lease, plus items not involving cash but excluding any changes in working capital
items, plus finance lease payments received) is a performance measure used to gauge the cash generating
capability of the Company. The impact changes in working capital items has on cash balances is excluded
from the calculation of operating cash flow because changes in working capital items are usually only
temporary and can fluctuate significantly from period to period and therefore are not a good indicator of the
Company’s longer term cash generating capabilities.
It is important to note that cash flow is not the same as net income, which includes transactions that did not
involve actual cash outflows and excludes some transactions that did involve actual cash inflows. The
calculation of adjusted operating cash flow starts with net income as identified in the Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income and then adds or subtracts a number of items identified in the
Statement of Cash Flows. Adjusted operating cash flow does not have a standardized meaning prescribed
by International Financial Reporting Standards and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures
presented by other companies. The most directly comparable measure calculated in accordance with
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International Financial Reporting Standards within the financial statements is net cash provided (used) in
operating activities, as disclosed in the statement of cash flows.
2.2 EBITDAS
Management believes that EBITDAS (earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortization,
impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets, share-based compensation expense and net write down
of lease) is a useful performance measure as it approximates cash generated from operations, before tax,
capital expenditures and changes in working capital and excludes non-operating items. EBITDAS also
assists comparison among companies as it eliminates the differences in earnings due to how a company is
financed. EBITDAS does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by International Financial Reporting
Standards and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies. The
most directly comparable measure calculated in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards within the financial statements is income (loss) before income taxes, as disclosed in the
statements of comprehensive income.
2.3 Order Backlog
Order backlog is a useful performance measure that Management uses as an indicator of the short-term
future revenue of our Company resulting from already recognized orders. The Company includes in “order
backlog” any purchase orders that have been received by the Company but have not yet been reflected as
revenue in the Company’s published financial statements. It is important to note that once an order or partial
order is recorded as revenue, the order backlog is reduced by the amount of the newly reported revenue.
Order backlog does not have a standardized meaning prescribed by International Financial Reporting
Standards and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other companies.

3. Performance
3.1 Summary of Fourth Quarter Results
Q4 2018
$
Revenue
Cost of Sales
Gross Profit
Administration, selling, marketing and business development expenses

Q4 2017
$

7,352,794

4,754,080

(3,989,849)

(2,375,537)

3,362,945

2,378,543

(2,530,424)

(1,989,143)

Research and development (expenses) recovery

(13,643)

28,966

Operating income

818,878

418,366

Finance Revenue

7,034

4,426

Income before income taxes
Income taxes recovery (expense)

825,912

422,792

62,477

(69,016)

Net income for the period

888,389

353,776

Exchange differences on translation of overseas operations

(61,602)

161,978

Total comprehensive income for the period

826,787

515,754

Revenues and Gross Profits
Revenues were $7,352,794 in the quarter ended May 31, 2018, representing an increase of $2,598,714, or
54.7%, compared to $4,754,080 in the quarter ended May 31, 2017. Sales of heat recovery systems
increased by $2,339,490 (83.6%) over the same period in the previous year, while sales of GEMTM
condensate return systems increased by $259,224 (13.3%).
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Revenues from sales of heat recovery systems in the current quarter included the substantial completion of
a hospital project as announced October 12, 2017, the partial delivery of the cogeneration project at a food
and beverage customer as announced August 31, 2017, and the partial delivery of the heat recovery project
to an existing pulp and paper customer, as announced December 5, 2017. In comparison, the same period
of the previous year saw the substantial completion of an installation at a major hospital, as announced
November 2, 2016, the partial delivery of a system to a leading producer of industrial and fuel alcohols, as
announced September 28, 2016, plus the further extension of the finance lease in May 2017.
GEMTM condensate return system sales for the final quarter of FY 2018 included further orders from a
leading performance materials company and the order to an existing pulp and paper customer, as
announced December 5, 2017. The revenue increased compared to the same period of the previous year
mainly due to the above two orders received with higher amounts and the increased sales in smaller orders.
The final quarter of FY 2017 included the fulfillment of sales to a leading chemical producer as well as the
fulfilment of orders from a further three sites of the Fortune 500 food and beverage company.
The gross profit of $3,362,945 in the quarter ended May 31, 2018 represented an increase of $984,402, or
41.4%, from the $2,378,543 achieved in the quarter ended May 31, 2017. The increase was mainly the
result of increased heat recovery revenues. Gross profit expressed as a percentage of sales was 45.7% in
the final quarter of FY 2018 compared with 50.0% in the final quarter of FY 2017. The decrease in gross
profit percentage was due to the product split.
Expenses
Administration, selling, marketing and business development expenses in the quarter ended May 31,
2018 totaled $2,530,424 compared to $1,989,143 in the quarter ended May 31, 2017, an increase of
$541,281. This increase was predominantly the result of higher commissions associated with the revenues,
plus a staff incentive in the current year, as well as costs associated with a new marketing and a new
administrative staff.
Research and development expenses related to expenditures on various research and development
programs. The Company receives credits from the SR&ED claims and the credits are accounted as a
reduction of research and development expenses. The total expenses net of SR&ED credits in the final
quarter of FY 2018 gave rise to a net expense of 13,643, compared to a net credit of $28,966 in the final
quarter of FY 2017.
Finance revenue in the fourth quarter of FY 2018 was $7,034 compared to $4,426 recognized in the fourth
quarter of FY 2017. On May 1, 2017, the final extension agreement was signed for 36 months to May 1,
2020.The interest rate implicit in the final lease extension is 14.3% which is applied against the reducing
finance lease receivable balance.
Income before income taxes for the quarter ended May 31, 2018 was $825,912 compared to $422,792 in
the same quarter of the previous year.
Income tax recovery in the fourth quarter of FY 2018 was $62,477, compared to a charge of $69,016 in the
fourth quarter of FY 2017. Taxes are payable on profits made in subsidiaries in both the U.S. and the U.K.
Net income for the fourth quarter of FY 2018 was $888,389 compared to $353,776 in the same quarter of
the previous year due to increased heat recovery revenues.
Comprehensive income was $826,787 for the final quarter of FY 2018 compared to $515,754 for the final
quarter of FY 2017. We saw a strengthening of the Canadian dollar against the U.K. pound sterling in the
fourth quarter of FY 2018, hence the comprehensive loss arising from the translation of assets recorded in
sterling.
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3.2 Review of Year End Results

Revenue
Cost of Sales
Gross Profit
Administration, selling, marketing and business development expenses
Research and development expenses
Operating income
Finance Revenue
Income before income taxes
Income taxes recovery (expense)
Net income for the period
Exchange differences on translation of overseas operations
Total comprehensive income for the period

2018
$
17,408,211
(9,074,188)
8,334,023
(7,732,044)
(113,200)
488,779
32,225
521,004
98,475
619,479
(64,600)
554,879

2017
$
13,192,107
(5,753,532)
7,438,575
(6,789,868)
(67,730)
580,977
11,523
592,500
(199,768)
392,732
(218,436)
174,296

Revenues and Gross Profits
Revenues were $17,408,211 in FY 2018 compared to $13,192,107 in FY 2017, an increase of $4,216,104,
or 32.0%. Sales of heat recovery systems increased by $4,812,897 (73.6%), while sales of GEMTM
condensate return systems decreased by $596,793 (-9.0%).
FY 2018 included the substantial completion of installations at two major hospitals and a major food and
beverage customer as announced on July 6, 2017, as well as a partial delivery of the super-efficient
cogeneration heat recovery system at a food and beverage customer, as announced August 31, 2017, and
the partial delivery of the large heat recovery projects to an existing pulp and paper customer, as announced
December 5, 2017. The previous fiscal year saw the substantial completion of installations at two major
hospitals as well as the substantial completion of an extension project at another major hospital. Other
projects completed in the previous year included an installation at a global brewing company, as announced
August 8, 2016, an installation at a leading food products business, as announced May 3, 2016 and a
second equipment sale to a global mining company.
GEMTM condensate return systems sales in FY 2018 were $6,055,352 compared to $6,652,145 in FY 2017.
GEMTM condensate return system sales for FY 2018 included further orders from a leading performance
materials company and the order to an existing pulp and paper customer, as announced December 5, 2017.
FY2018 revenue decreased compared to the previous year mainly due to lack of small orders and the
decrease in sales in the rest of world market. The FY 2017 included the fulfillment of sales to a leading
chemical producer as well as the fulfilment of orders from a further three sites of the Fortune 500 food and
beverage company. There were no comparable orders in FY 2018.
FY 2018 gross profit of $8,334,023 represents an increase of $895,448, or 12.0%, over the $7,438,575
achieved in FY 2017. The gross profit expressed as a percentage of sales was 47.9% in FY 2018 compared
with 56.4% in FY 2017. The decrease in gross profit percentage is due to the product split.
Expenses
Administration, selling, marketing and business development expenses in FY 2018 totaled $7,732,044
compared to $6,789,868 in FY 2017, an increase of $942,176, or 13.9%. This increase is mainly due to the
increased commissions on the higher revenues along with the additional costs associated with the new
sales, technical, administrative and marketing staff.
Research and development costs in FY 2018 totaled $113,200, compared to $67,730 in FY 2017. During
the FY 2018, the Company recorded SR&ED credits receivable totaling $20,005, compared to $63,594 in
the previous year.
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Finance revenue in FY 2018 was $32,225, an increase of $20,702 from the $11,523 received in FY 2017.
On May 1, 2017, the final extension agreement was signed for 36 months to May 1, 2020.The interest rate
implicit in the final lease extension is 14.3% which is applied against the reducing finance lease receivable
balance.
Income before income taxes for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2018 was $521,004 compared to $592,500
for the fiscal year ended May 31, 2017.
Income tax recovery in FY 2018 was $98,475, compared to a charge of $199,768 in the previous year.
This was the result of loss within the UK entity for FY 2018.
Net income for FY 2018 was $619,479, compared to $392,732 in the year ended May 31, 2017. The
increase in net income was mainly due to the increased revenues in FY 2018.
Comprehensive income was $554,879 in the year ended May 31, 2018, compared to $174,296 in the
previous year. The weakening of sterling against the Canadian dollar following the Brexit referendum in June
2016 in the previous year has started to turn around somewhat in FY 2018, resulting in a lower exchange
loss from the revaluation of goodwill and intangible assets in the U.K. in FY 2018.
Liquidity & Capital Resources
The working capital was $2,027,002 at May 31, 2018 compared to working capital of $1,430,797 at May 31,
2017 – an increase of $596,205, with the Company’s net cash position (Cash and cash equivalents less
Bank loans) increasing by $332,068 from $2,950,140 as at May 31, 2017 to $3,282,208 as at May 31, 2018.
The Company’s working capital position over the last eight quarters can be summarized as follows:

Aug 31,
2016 $

Nov 30,
2016 $

Feb 28,
2017 $

May 31,
2017 $

Aug 31,
2017 $

Nov 30,
2017 $

Feb 28,
2018 $

May 31,
2018 $

Current Assets

3,400,711

5,066,120

5,363,954

6,221,714

4,245,864

4,450,013

4,933,877

6,613,125

Current Liabilities

2,502,425

3,806,596

4,149,552

4,790,917

3,079,805

3,099,395

3,706,345

4,586,122

898,286

1,259,524

1,214,402

1,430,797

1,166,059

1,350,618

1,227,532

2,027,003

Working Capital

FY 2018 Changes
Current assets increased in FY 2018 by $391,411 to $6,613,125, mostly due to in the increase in cash
balances of $332,068. Current liabilities meanwhile decreased by $204,795 to $4,586,122. Main decrease
was deferred revenue of $942,194 relating to heat recovery projects in progress at year end. The decrease
in deferred revenue was partially offset by the increase in accrued commissions and accrued costs related
to the acquisition of a US-based company subsequent to the year-end.
As at May 31, 2018, $165,420 (9.3%) of the Company’s trade receivables balance was over 90 days past
due, none of which is considered impaired.
At May 31, 2018, the Company had operating lease commitments as shown below. The Company had no
purchase obligations:

Operating Leases

Page 7

Total
$
218,916

Less than 1 year
$
144,314

1-5 years
$
74,602

More than 5 years
$
-
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Net cash provided by operating activities in the year ended May 31, 2018 was $307,689. Net cash provided
by investing activities of $36,936 comprised $77,329 finance lease principal payments received and
proceeds received from disposal of property, plant and equipment of $9,157 less $40,550 paid for net
additions to property, plant and equipment. Net cash used by financing activities was $8,291 for dividends
paid to the minority shareholder of a UK subsidiary. After allowing negative $4,266 for the effect of exchange
rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents, the net result of the above activities was an increase in cash
balance of $332,068.
Adjusted operating cash inflow (defined as net income or loss for the period, as adjusted for revenue
recorded upon signing of a finance lease, plus items not involving cash, after net tax and interest cash
inflows or outflows, plus finance lease payments received) for the year ended May 31, 2018 was $536,867.
After adjusting this for $151,849 of negative changes in non-cash working capital items and deducting
$40,393 for the net purchase of fixed assets, deducting $8,291 used by financing activities, and deducting
$4,266 to allow for the effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents, the net cash inflow
was $332,068, increasing the net cash balance as at May 31, 2018 to $3,282,208 from $2,950,140 as at
May 31, 2017.
In addition to its net cash balance of $3,282,208 as at May 31, 2018, the Company also had an estimated
$157,000 of unused borrowing capacity under its bank loans.
The Company's ability to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities depends on its ability to generate
sufficient cash from operations or its ability to arrange debt or equity financing. No assurance can be given
that any such additional funding will be available or that, if available, it can be obtained on terms favorable to
the Company.
Management is of the opinion that sufficient working capital will be obtained from future cash flows by
achieving profitable operations through continuing to manage expenditures, concentrating on building upon
revenue levels experienced in 2016, 2017 and 2018, and growing revenues at growth rates experienced in
the years ended May 31, 2010 through May 31, 2018.
A reconciliation of Net cash provided in operating activities to adjusted operating cash flow is shown below:

Net cash provided in operating activities
Changes in working capital
Finance lease principal payments received
Adjusted operating cash flow

2016
$
418,167
180,106
111,524
709,797

2017
$
1,680,115
(1,312,674)
111,031
478,472

2018
$
307,689
151,849
77,329
536,867

Net Investment in Lease
The Company’s net investment in lease includes the following:

Total estimated minimum lease payments receivable
Less: unearned income
Less: current portion

May 31,
May 31,
2018
2017
$
$
209,607
319,161
(27,209)
(59,434)
182,398
259,727
(89,141)
(77,328)
93,257
182,399

Finance lease receivable relates to one arrangement. The estimated minimum lease payments receivable in
this lease represent the estimated monthly energy outputs of the leased asset and are based on
assumptions regarding the efficiency of the asset, the operations of the plant in which it is located and
penalty payments resulting from temporary plant shut-downs.
On December 31, 2012, the lease with Fortress Specialty Cellulose, as signed on June 29, 2010, expired.
On November 27, 2012, an agreement was signed whereby the customer agreed to purchase the recovered
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energy for a further two years, after which the customer had the option to renew for an additional 24 months
on substantially the same terms or purchase the asset from the Company.
On December 22, 2013, the site commenced a market downtime for a period of ten weeks, following the
imposition of an interim duty in China on the import of Canadian dissolving pulp, further to which on April 11,
2014, an agreement was made to further extend the existing lease by five months to mid-May 2015.
On May 1, 2015, the customer signed a further extension for 24 months to May 1, 2017. Pursuant to this
new extension, the customer has agreed to pay up to $12,000 per month over two years, at the end of which
the customer has the option to purchase the asset from the Company.
On May 1, 2017, a final extension agreement was signed for 36 months to May 1, 2020. Pursuant to this
new extension, the customer has agreed to pay up to $9,500 per month over three years, at the end of
which the customer assumes full ownership of the equipment.
Until the expiry of the new lease on May 1, 2020, finance revenue will be recognized within the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income at the interest rate implicit in the lease.
The estimated minimum lease payments receivable in this lease represent the estimated monthly energy
outputs of the leased asset and are based on assumptions regarding the efficiency of the asset and the
operations of the plant in which it is located.
Future estimated minimum lease payments receivable, and expected residual value of equipment at the end
of the lease, under the sales-type lease are as follows:
$
Less than one year
109,554
Between two and five years
100,053
Residual value of equipment
209,607

Related Party Transactions
Options outstanding for Directors (excluding the CEO) as at May 31, 2018 were 1,250,000 of which 916,668
were exercisable. There were no warrants outstanding for Directors.
Options outstanding for Senior Management (including the CEO) as at May 31, 2018 were 9,305,787 of
which 8,805,788 were exercisable. There were no warrants outstanding for Senior Management.

Directors and Senior Management Compensation
During the year ended May 31, 2018 compensation arrangements for directors was as follows:
Before November 27, 2016: $15,000 per annum per Director plus an additional $9,000 per annum payable
to the Chairman of the Board, $6,000 per annum payable to the chairperson of the Audit Committee, $6,000
per annum payable to the chairperson of the Ethics Committee and $1,000 payable for each in-person
meeting.
After November 27, 2016: $13,500 per annum per Director plus an additional $8,100 per annum payable to
the Chairman of the Board, $5,400 per annum payable to the chairperson of the Audit Committee, $5,400
per annum payable to the chairperson of the Ethics Committee and $1,000 payable for each in-person
meeting.
During the year ended May 31, 2018, Directors fees paid were $84,375. Fees to the Chairperson of the
Audit Committee were $5,400; fees to the Chairperson of the Ethics, Governance and Compliance
Committee were $5,400, fees paid to the Chairman were $8,100; and a total of $25,000 was paid for inperson meetings.
Page 9

Management Discussion and Analysis for the Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2018

Compensation paid to directors and officers during the year ended May 31, (inclusive of the amounts
described above but excluding stock-based compensation) was as follows:
Salaries and fees
2018
$
Directors
M. Williams
J. Kelly
W. Ollerhead
J. Schoenmakers
D. Spagnolo
K. Milsom (1)
W. White
Total

Senior Management
W. Crossland
J. Flynn(2)
R. Triebe
S. Mawby(2)(3)
Total
Total Related Party
Transactions

2017
$

Incentives
2018
$

2017
$

Other short-term
benefits
2018
2017
$
$

Total
2018
$

2017
$

18,500
24,600
23,900
21,900
18,500
4,375
16,500
128,275

22,187
27,780
21,982
23,932
19,238
9,863
8,863
133,845

-

-

-

-

18,500
24,600
23,900
21,900
18,500
4,375
16,500
128,275

22,187
27,780
21,982
23,932
19,238
9,863
8,863
133,845

240,000
154,939
181,000
128,083
704,022

240,000
146,378
167,347
145,832
699,557

32,630
20,492
20,492
20,492
94,106

42,077
25,058
25,058
25,058
117,251

3,796
25,280
7,788
20,015
56,879

3,735
26,218
7,457
25,877
63,287

276,426
200,711
209,280
168,590
855,007

285,812
197,654
199,862
196,767
880,095

832,297

833,402

94,106

117,251

56,879

63,287

983,282

1,013,940

Other short-term benefits include cash payments for social security costs, employee benefits, and payments
made into defined contribution pension plans of the Company’s U.K. based subsidiaries.
(1) Ms. Milson resigned on July 31, 2017.
(2) Ms. Flynn and Mr. Mawby are compensated in U.K. Pound sterling. Average exchange rate to Canadian
dollar was 1.7025 and 1.693 in FY 2018 and FY 2017 respectively.
(3) Mr. Mawby was working part-time during parental leave between August 2017 and November 2017.

Normal Course Issuer Bid
During the 12-month period commencing February 15, 2016 and ending February 15, 2017, the Company
was able to purchase on the TSX up to 12,758,701 common shares, representing approximately 8% of the
then issued and outstanding common shares, pursuant to a Normal Course Issuer Bid as approved by the
TSX Venture Exchange on February 12, 2016.
The previously announced Normal Course Issuer Bid expired on February 15, 2017. There has been no
Normal Course Issuer Bid activity for the year ended May 31, 2018 or May 31, 2017.
Segmented Information
In fiscal 2018 and 2017, the Company operated in the energy efficiency industry in North America, Europe,
China and Rest of the World. The Company markets, sells, engineers, fabricates, constructs, installs and
supports two technology lines - heat recovery solutions and condensate return system solutions. The
Company is also developing a third technology line - low temperature biomass drying systems. Assets are
located in Canada, Europe and China.
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Management reporting comprises analysis of revenue and gross profit within two distinct geographical
areas. All other items of revenue and expenses are considered on a geographical and/or global basis in
making strategic decisions regarding the Company’s future. The Company has two operational bases
(“reporting units”), one in Ottawa, Canada covering North America and China, and the other in Bristol,
United Kingdom, covering Europe and the rest of the world. These areas are determined by proximity of the
region to the reporting unit, plus the location of the contracts in existence with agents and distributors in the
respective areas and the historical relationships with those agents and distributors. Corporate costs that
cannot easily be attributed to either of the two reporting units are included in reconciling items. The chief
operating decision maker focuses on revenues and costs by geographical segments, but manages assets
and liabilities on a global basis.
Segment information for the year ended May 31, 2018 and the comparative year are detailed in the table
below:
Thermal Energy Ottawa
2018
$

2017
$

Thermal Energy Bristol
2018
$

2017
$

Reconciling Items
2018
$

2017
$

-

-

Total
2018
$

2017
$

Total revenue from external
customers
Cost of sales

12,505,454
(7,408,364)

6,357,723
4,902,757
(2,886,324) (1,665,824)

6,834,384
(2,867,208)

Gross profit
Other expenses
Finance revenue

5,097,090
(3,288,837)
32,225

3,471,399
3,236,933
(2,885,103) (3,340,178)
11,523
-

3,967,176
8,334,023
7,438,575
(2,859,750) (1,216,229) (1,112,745) (7,845,244) (6,857,598)
32,225
11,523

17,408,211 13,192,107
(9,074,188) (5,753,532)

Income (loss) before taxation
Tax (expense) recovery

1,840,478
(22,391)

597,819
(102,766)

(103,245)
23,950

1,107,426 (1,216,229) (1,112,745)
(188,459)
96,916
91,457

521,004
98,475

592,500
(199,768)

Profit (loss) after taxation

1,818,087

495,053

(79,295)

918,967 (1,119,313) (1,021,288)

619,479

392,732

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interest

1,832,463
(14,376)

541,991
(46,938)

(74,152)
(5,143)

894,177 (1,119,313) (1,021,288)
24,790
-

638,998
(19,519)

414,880
(22,148)

Reconciling items comprise the following:

Corporate administration costs
Stock-based compensation
Professional fees
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Bank charges and interest
Foreign exchange differences
Total

2018
$

2017
$

946,288
49,606
141,524
44,342
33,306
1,163

894,136
117,266
137,418
38,114
36,143
(110,332)

1,216,229

1,112,745

Corporate administration costs include directors’ fees, all costs relating to both the CEO and CFO, directors
and officers’ insurance, corporate legal costs, public relations costs, professional fees relating to group tax
planning and corporate filing costs as well as the Annual General Meeting.
During the year ended May 31, 2018, the Company had one customer that accounted for 22.4% and
another customer accounted for 10.0% of total consolidated revenue in North America for the year.
During the year ended May 31, 2017, the Company had one customer in North America that accounted for
10.2% of total consolidated revenue for the year.
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Further geographical analysis:

Sales for the year

Property, plant and

Goodwill and intangibles

Finance lease receivable

ended

equipment as at

assets as at

(non-current) as at

May 31,

May 31,

May 31,

2018

2017

2018

$

$

$

2017
$

41,789

40,984

35,606

35,639

May 31,

2018

2017

2018

$

$

$

–

Canada

5,274,196

1,708,140

U.S.A.

7,231,259

4,649,583

U.K.

3,793,527

4,561,505

Italy

291,663

1,454,195

–

–

–

Germany

173,145

189,388

–

–

Norway

122,870

–

Rest of world

109,307

19,412

India

103,854

Netherlands

$
182,399

–

–
–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

86,912

–

–

–

–

–

–

85,652

63,338

–

–

–

–

–

–

Rest of Europe

78,204

171,896

–

–

–

–

–

–

Kenya

73,551

38,187

–

–

–

–

–

–

Ireland

70,983

83,446

–

–

–

–

–

–

Greece

–

166,105

–

–

–

–

–

–

17,408,211

13,192,107

Total

77,395

76,623

1,856,739

1,856,739

–

182,398
–

–

–

–

2017

1,874,529

1,874,529

182,398

182,399

Material Segmentation Variances
Revenue
Thermal Energy Ottawa: for the year ended May 31, 2018, revenue was $12,505,454 as compared to
$6,357,723 for FY 2017. The increase was mainly due to the increased number of orders from heat recovery
projects. The heat recovery revenue increased by $6,424,326 due to substantial completion of installations
at one major hospital and one major food and beverage customer as announced on July 6, 2017, as well as
a partial delivery of the super-efficient cogeneration heat recovery system at a food and beverage customer,
as announced August 31, 2017, and the partial delivery of the project to an existing pulp and paper
customer, as announced December 5, 2017. Revenue from sales of GEMTM products decreased by
$276,595 mainly due to lack of small orders.
Thermal Energy Bristol: revenue for the year ended May 31, 2018 was $4,902,757 compared to $6,834,384
for the previous year. The decrease was $1,931,627. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease of heat
recovery revenue, which decreased by $1,611,429 in FY 2018. Historically, the heat recovery revenue from
Europe is dependent on the delivery of systems to hospital customers based in the U.K. Although the
Company has been trying to develop turnkey projects outside the U.K. and outside the hospital sector, there
was no projects developed outside the U.K. or the hospital sector in FY 2018. In the previous year,
however, the Company did complete an installation at a global brewing company and another installation at
a leading food products business. Revenue from sales of GEMTM products meanwhile decreased by
$320,198 due to decreased sales across Europe and the rest of the world market.
Segment Income (loss) Before Tax
Thermal Energy Ottawa: gross profit increased from $3,471,399 in FY 2017 to $5,097,090 in FY 2018. As a
percentage of revenue, gross profit was 40.8% in FY 2018, compared to 54.6% achieved in FY 2017. Gross
profit as a percentage of revenue decreased due to the product split. Other expenses in the region
increased by $403,734 (14.0%), due to increased commissions payable and profit related incentive, plus the
additional sales and technical staff hired in FY 2018. With finance revenue increasing by $20,702 as the
finance lease was renewed, the resulting segment income before tax of $1,840,478 represented an increase
of $1,242,659 from the previous year.
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Thermal Energy Bristol: gross profit decreased in the year ended May 31, 2018 over the previous year by
$730,243, due to decreased heat recovery revenues. Gross profit as a percentage of revenue increased
from 58.0% to 66.0% due to the product split. The increase in other expenses of $480,428 was mainly due
to the recruitment of additional sales, marketing and administrative staff. The resulting pre-tax loss was
$103,245 as compared to pre-tax income of $1,107,426 in the prior year, a decrease of $1,210,671.
Other expenses within Reconciling items, which incorporates all costs not specifically attributable to either
regional operational center, increased in FY 2018 from the prior year by $103,484. The increase was mainly
due to the increase of corporate administration expense of $52,152 and the decrease in foreign exchange
gain of $111,495 offset by the decrease of stock-based compensation of $67,660. The predominant cause
of the increase was the strengthening of the British pound in the FY 2018, compared to a weakening in the
previous year. A gain of $110,332, due to the weakening of U.K. Sterling against the Canadian dollar, was
recognized in FY 2017. In F2018, there was only a loss $1,163 recorded on foreign currency translation.
Selected Annual Information
The following table shows selected consolidated financial data for the three most recently completed
financial years.
Financial information for the years ending May 31, 2016, 2017 and 2018

Revenue
Gross Profit
Gross Profit Percentage
EBITDAS(1)
Total net income (loss) attributable to owners of the parent
Net profit (loss) per share – basic and diluted
Total assets
Total long term financial liabilities
Cash dividends declared per share
Adjusted operating cash flow(2)

2016
$
12,402,076
6,794,005
54.8%
564,179
253,849
0.002
5,980,709
0
0.00
709,797

2017
$
13,192,107
7,438,575
56.4%
749,762
414,880
0.003
8,376,789
0
0.00
478,472

2018
$
17,408,211
8,334,023
47.9%
616,905
638,998
0.004
8,692,148
0
0.00
536,867

(1) EBITDAS represents earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortization, impairment of
goodwill and other intangible assets, share-based compensation expense and net write down of
lease.
(2) Adjusted operating cash flow represents net income (loss) plus items not involving cash, plus lease
payments received.
A reconciliation of Net income (loss) to EBITDAS is shown below:

Total net income (loss) attributable to owners of the parent
Total net income (loss) attributable to non-controlling interest
Interest paid
Interest received
Taxation
Depreciation
Share based compensation
EBITDAS

2016
$
253,849
5,019
4,692
(3,405)
97,606
38,344
168,074
564,179

2017
$
414,880
(22,148)
4,015
(2,133)
199,768
38,114
117,266
749,762

2018
$
638,998
(19,519)
2,302
(349)
(98,475)
44,342
49,606
616,905

FY 2018 generated $4,216,104 more revenue than FY 2017, an increase of 32%. All of this increase came
from increased revenues of heat recovery systems in North America, and the result was an increase in
gross profit of $895,448. Most of the increase in costs was the direct result of the increased revenue, with
commissions and incentive payable being higher than in the previous year. In addition, the Company
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recruited additional sales, marketing, technical and administrative staff in FY 2018. In FY 2018, cash
balances grew by $332,068 contributing to the overall increase in total assets of $315,359 from May 31,
2017.
FY 2017 generated $790,031 more revenue than FY 2016 despite the weakening of U.K. Sterling against
the Canadian dollar, an increase of 6%. All of this increase came from sales of GEM traps, both within North
America and Europe, and the result was an increase in gross profit of $644,570. Most of the increase in
costs was the direct result of the increased revenue, with commissions and incentive payable being higher
than in the previous year. Over the current year, cash balances grew by $1,806,992, contributing to the
overall increase in total assets of $2,396,080 from May 31, 2016.
FY 2016 provided $5,601,884 more revenue than FY 2015 – an increase of 82%. Whereas FY 2015 saw
just one heat recovery order from a hospital, which was partially completed in FY 2016, the FY 2016
included the completion of that project as well as two other hospital conversions and a significant extension
project at the first site. In addition, FY 2016 included three FLU-ACE® projects from other markets as well as
two equipment sales, compared to two conversions and one smaller equipment sale in the prior year.
Revenue from the sale of GEMTM products in North America increased by $2,116,969 in FY 2016, much of
which was due to orders from three customers, but also some resulting from a general increase in orders
from that region. This increase in revenue contributed directly to the increase in gross profit, with the main
increases in other expenses also being the result of the increased activity, as commissions payable and
incentive payable being higher than in FY 2015. Total assets grew by $83,844 in FY 2016, with an increase
in cash balances of $427,805 being partially offset by a decrease in finance lease receivable and current tax
assets, due to the profits realized in the U.K. entity in FY 2016.
Quarterly financial information (unaudited)
For the eight quarters ended May 31, 2018
Quarter ended
Revenue
Gross Profit
Gross Profit Percentage
EBITDAS(1)
Total net income (loss)
Income (loss) per share, basic and diluted
Quarter ended
Revenue
Gross Profit
Gross Profit Percentage
EBITDAS(1)
Total net income (loss)
Income (loss) per share, basic and diluted

31-May-18
$
7,352,794
3,362,945
45.7%
850,479
888,389
0.006

28-Feb-18
$
3,228,386
1,599,771
49.6%
(156,016)
(158,644)
(0.001)

30-Nov-17
$
3,729,447
1,853,510
49.7%
108,711
70,514
0.000

31-Aug-17
$
3,097,584
1,517,797
49.0%
(186,269)
(180,780)
(0.001)

31-May-17
$
4,754,080
2,378,543
50.0%
462,964
353,776
0.002

28-Feb-17
$
3,224,530
1,675,233
52.0%
(1,811)
(56,472)
0.000

30-Nov-16
$
3,078,744
1,929,114
62.7%
285,307
175,158
0.001

31-Aug-16
$
2,134,753
1,455,685
68.2%
3,302
(79,730)
(0.001)

depreciation, amortization,

share-based

EBITDAS represents earnings before interest,
compensation expense and net write-down of lease.
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4. Business Outlook
Governments around the world are taking unprecedented action, including increasing regulations, to reduce
carbon emissions. Energy efficiency can make the transition toward a clean energy economy faster and
cheaper than other initiatives, and therefore is an important element in energy policies around the world. As
such, the industrial sector has begun to feel the pressing need to adopt measures that can improve the
energy efficiency of internal processes and operations, thus contributing to an increased demand for energy
efficiency products, solutions and services globally.
Other than our order backlog, we do not provide specific financial performance guidance. However, we
believe that we are well positioned to benefit from this increased demand, particularly in our key markets of
North America, the United Kingdom, and the European Union. As mentioned in Section 2.3 earlier,
Management uses order backlog as an indicator of the short-term future revenue of our Company resulting
from already recognized orders.
The Company’s order backlog as at May 31, 2018 was approximately $9.9 million. As at September 26,
2018, the Company had an order backlog of approximately $12.7 million.

Order backlog as at May 31
Order backlog as at September reporting date

2016
$ million
2.6
7.3

2017
$ million
4.2
9.0

2018
$ million
9.9
12.7

•

In June 2018, the Company announced that it had received a $1.2 million order from one of its
corporate accounts, a leading Fortune 500 food and beverage conglomerate, for a heat recovery
system. The project is expected to be completed and revenue earned over the next nine months.

•

In March 2018, the Company announced that it had received an order for approximately $840
thousand for the installation of a heat recovery system at a teaching hospital. The order is expected
to be fulfilled and the revenue earned over the next three to six months.

•

In December 2017, the Company announced that it has been engaged by an existing pulp and
paper customer to design, develop and implement a major energy efficiency improvement and
greenhouse gas reduction project with a total order amount of $11 million. The project includes the
installation of two of Thermal Energy’s proprietary FLU-ACE® Heat Recovery Systems and the
conversion of the mill’s steam traps to Thermal Energy’s proprietary GEM™ Steam Trap system.
The project was 30% completed at at May 31, 2018 and is expected to be completely fulfilled and
the remaining revenue earned over the next twelve months.

•

In August 2017, the Company announced that it had received a Super-Efficient Cogeneration Heat
Recovery order from a leading Fortune 500 food and beverage producer for approximately
$1,460,000. As at May 31, 2018 this order was 75% complete and is expected to be completely
fulfilled and the remaining revenue earned over the next three to six months.
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5. Summary of Outstanding Shares and Dilutive Instruments
The Company currently has the following shares and dilutive instruments outstanding:
Shares
159,088,950 class A common shares.
Options
Options outstanding

Range of exercise
prices
0.05-0.07
0.07-0.10
0.10-0.12

Number
outstanding
May 31, 2018
5,991,500
4,071,360
10,432,671
20,495,531

Weighted
average
remaining
contractual life
1.84
1.97
0.46
1.16

Options exercisable
Weighted
average
exercise price
0.05
0.08
0.10
0.08

Number
exercisable at
May 31, 2018
4,974,833
4,071,360
10,099,338
19,145,531

Weighted
average
exercise price
0.05
0.08
0.10
0.08

6. Critical Accounting Estimates and Changes in Accounting Standards
Critical Accounting Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS necessitates the use of management
estimates, assumptions and judgment that affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Although
management reviews its estimates on an ongoing basis, actual results may differ from these estimates as
confirming events occur. The following components of the financial statements depend most heavily on such
management estimates, assumptions and judgment, any changes in which may have a material impact on
the Company’s financial condition or results of operations. For more information about certain assumptions
and risks that may affect these estimates, assumptions and judgments, please see the “Forward Looking
Information” section of this MD&A.
Valuation of goodwill and intangible assets and asset impairment
Goodwill and intangible assets are tested annually for impairment, or earlier if circumstances indicate an
impairment.
An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which an asset's or cash-generating unit's carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. To determine the recoverable amount, management estimates
expected future cash flows from each asset or cash-generating unit and determines a suitable interest rate
in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. In the process of measuring expected future cash
flows, management makes assumptions about future operating results and, in the case of other intangible
assets, determines an applicable royalty rate. These assumptions relate to future events and circumstances.
The actual results may vary and may cause significant adjustments to the Company's assets within the next
financial period.
In most cases, determining the applicable discount rate involves estimating the appropriate adjustment to
market risk and the appropriate adjustment to asset-specific risk factors.

Page 16

Management Discussion and Analysis for the Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2018

Future production outputs relating to the finance lease
When a new finance lease or amendment is signed, in determining minimum lease payments receivable,
management makes estimates regarding monthly energy outputs of the leased asset based on assumptions
regarding the efficiency of the asset, the operations of the plant in which it is located, penalty payments
resulting from temporary plant shut-downs and residual value of the equipment. These assumptions relate to
future events and circumstances. Actual results may vary from estimate.
Assumptions used in the Black-Scholes fair value calculations
The estimation of share-based payment expense requires the selection of an appropriate valuation model
and consideration as to the inputs necessary for the valuation model chosen. In calculating the share-based
payment expense, key estimates such as the rate of forfeiture of options granted, the expected life of the
option, the volatility of the Company’s stock price and the risk-free interest rate are used.
Allowance for doubtful accounts
The valuation of allowances for uncollectable trade receivables requires assumptions including estimated
credit losses based on customer and industry concentrations and the Company’s knowledge of the financial
conditions of its customers.
Revenue Recognition relating to contracts for heat recovery solutions
The stage of completion of any heat recovery solutions contract is assessed by management by taking into
consideration all information available at the reporting date. In this process, management exercises
significant estimate about milestones, actual work performed and the estimated costs to complete work.
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits and deductible temporary differences,
to the extent that it is probable that future taxable income will be available against which they can be utilized.
These estimates are reviewed at every reporting date. Significant management judgment is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and the
level of the reversal of existing differences, future taxable income and future tax planning strategies.

Changes in Accounting Standards
The Company has adopted the following new or amended accounting standards.
Amendments to IAS 7: Statement of Cash Flows (“IAS 7”)
In January 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 7. These amendments require entities to provide
disclosures that help users of the financial statements to better understand changes in liabilities that arise
from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash flow and non-cash changes. These
amendments became effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. The company
adopted the amendments on June 1, 2017. The adoption of these amendments did not have a material
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to IAS 12: Income Taxes (“IAS 12”)
In January 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 12. The amendments clarify the accounting for
deferred tax assets for unrealized losses on debt instruments measured at fair value. These amendments
became effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017. The company adopted the
amendments on June 1, 2017. The adoption of these amendments did not have a material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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New standards and amendments yet to be adopted:
At the date of approval of the accompanying consolidated financial statements, certain new standards,
amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and
have not been adopted early by the Company. These standards will be adopted at the effective date.
Management anticipates that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Company’s accounting policy
for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. Information on new standards,
amendments and interpretations that are expected to be relevant to the Company’s consolidated financial
statements is provided below. Certain other new standards and interpretations have been issued, but are
not expected to have an impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to IFRS 2: Share Based Payments (“IFRS 2”)
In June 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2. The amendments, which were developed through
the IFRS Interpretations Committee, provide requirements for accounting for the effects of vesting and nonvesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments. They also provide guidance
on the accounting for share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax
obligations; and a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that changes the
classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled. These amendments are to be applied
prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting the amendments on the consolidated financial
statements. The company will adopt the amendments on June 1, 2018.
IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments”
In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9, bringing together the classification and
measurement, impairment and hedge accounting phases of the project to replace IAS 39, Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This standard simplifies the classification of a financial asset as
either at amortized cost or at fair value as opposed to the multiple classifications which were permitted under
IAS 39. This standard also requires the use of a single impairment method as opposed to the multiple
methods in IAS 39. The approach in IFRS 9 is based on how an entity manages its financial instruments in
the context of its business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The
standard also adds guidance on the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. IFRS 9 is to be
applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial
statements. The company will adopt the new standard on June 1, 2018.
IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”
In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15, which provides a single, principles-based five-step model for
revenue recognition to be applied to all customer contracts and requires enhanced disclosures. The
standard also provides guidance relating to recognition of customer acquisition costs. In April 2016, the
IASB issued Clarifications to IFRS 15 in relation to the identification of performance obligations, principal
versus agent considerations, as well as licensing application guidance. This standard will be effective
January 1, 2018 and allows early adoption. The two permitted transition methods under the new standard
are the full retrospective method, in which case the standard would be applied to each prior reporting period
presented, or the modified retrospective method, in which case the cumulative effect of applying the
standard would be recognized at the date of initial application.
The company is still evaluating the of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements. The
company will adopt the new standard effective June 1, 2018.
IFRS 16, “Leases”
In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16, Leases, which specifies how to recognize, measure present and
disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognize all
assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a
low value. Consistent with its predecessor, IAS 17, the new lease standard continues to require lessors to
classify leases as operating or finance. IFRS 16 is to be applied retrospectively for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2019. Earlier application is permitted if IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
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Customers has also been applied. The Company does not intend to adopt this standard early and is
currently evaluating the impact of adopting this standard on the consolidated financial statements.

7. Risk Factors and Risk Management
Management is confident about our long-term prospects, but does recognize that the company is exposed to
a number of risks in the normal course of business that could negatively impact the financial condition of the
Company.
Operational risks of the company include the ability to continue to secure and implement sales contracts for
its GEMTM and FLU-ACE® technology solutions.
Financial risks and uncertainties of the Company include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

The Company’s history of operating losses and uncertainty of future profitability;
The ability to grow sales through the establishment of new cooperative partnerships and strategic
alliances;
The ability to grow sales through the licensing of the corporation’s technologies;
The ability to secure and maintain the required outside working capital financing;
The ability to achieve profitable operations through increased sales;
Reliance on third party collaborations and license arrangements;
Reliance on proprietary technology;
Competition in the energy conservation and environmental compliance solutions;
Product liability claims and insurance;
Reliance on key personnel;
The ongoing litigation with its former President & CEO;
The ability to control costs and achieve a positive gross margin on projects;
The effect of a continuing prolonged recession in Canada, U.S.A. and Europe to the financial
markets in securing project financing and in particular to industrial and commercial customers in
committing capital to projects.
The impact of the pending departure from the European Union by the U.K.

Management’s addressing of the risks:
FY 2012 saw the Company’s first ever net profit, which was the result of increased revenues and strict cost
control. FY 2013, however, produced an operating loss of $844,328, resulting from diminished revenues and
increasing costs. Despite further cost increases as management continue to build the sales force, FY 2014
produced the company’s best ever post-tax income of $634,023 as well as an increase in cash balance of
$742,022, but this was again followed by a net loss of $2,154,817, accompanied by a cash decrease of
$1,331,074 in FY 2015. FY 2016 and FY 2017 saw a return to profitability and an increase in cash balances
of $427,805 and $1,806,992 respectively, and this was followed in FY 2018 by another profitable year which
saw cash balances increase by $336,334. Management is confident that this recent trend is set to continue.
The Company actively protects its proprietary technology through registered trademarks and confidentiality
agreements.
The Company maintains adequate forms of general liability insurance including product liability and errors
and omission coverage.
Management still believes that competition against its core technology of GEM™, FLU-ACE® and DRYREX™ is limited at this time and believes that the market place is sufficiently large enough to mitigate the
risk of stronger competition in the future.
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On June 23, 2016 a referendum was held in the U.K., resulting in the decision to leave the European Union.
One immediate effect was a significant fall in the value of U.K. Pound Sterling against most other major
currencies, although it has now stabilized. Negotiations regarding how trade will continue after U.K. leaves
are ongoing, the outcome of which is difficult to predict. Management continues to monitor the situation, but
at this point cannot comment on how the eventual break will impact the Company. In the meantime,
business continues as normal.
Management continues to focus on strengthening relationships with key customers, as well as securing new
relationships with multi-site organizations, which is anticipated to provide repeat business into the
foreseeable future. Management continually monitors costs and cash flow to ensure that the Company has
sufficient funds for operations while providing for future growth.

8. Forward-Looking Information
This MD&A contains certain “forward-looking statements.” All statements, other than statements of historical
fact, that address activities, events or developments that the Company believes, expects or anticipates will
or may occur in the future (including, without limitation, statements regarding financial and business
prospects and financial outlook) are forward looking statements. These forward-looking statements reflect
the current expectations or beliefs of Management, based on information currently available to the
Company. Forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions that
may cause the actual results of the Company to differ materially from those discussed in the forward-looking
statements and, even if such actual results are realized or substantially realized, there can be no assurance
that they will have the expected consequences to, or effects on the Company. Factors that could cause
actual results or events to differ materially from current expectations include, among other things, changes in
general economic and market conditions, changes to regulations affecting the Company’s activities, and
uncertainties relating to the availability and costs of financing needed in the future. Any forward-looking
statement speaks only as at the date on which it is made and, except as may be required by applicable
securities laws, the Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update any forward-looking statement,
whether as a result of new information, future events or results or otherwise. Although Management
believes that the assumptions inherent in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, forward-looking
statements are not guarantees of future performance and, accordingly, undue reliance should not be put on
such statements due to the inherent uncertainty therein.

9. Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting
In compliance with the Canadian Securities Administrators’ National Instrument 52-109 (“NI 52-109”), the
Company has filed with applicable Canadian securities regulatory authorities, certificates signed by its Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) that, among other things, report on the design
and effectiveness of disclosure controls and procedures and the design of internal controls over financial
reporting.
Under the supervision of the CEO and CFO, the Company maintains systems of internal accounting and
administrative controls to provide reasonable assurance that the financial information is relevant, reliable
and accurate and that transactions are authorized, assets are safeguarded and proper records are
maintained. Internal controls over financial reporting, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations
and may not prevent or detect all misstatements. There were no changes to the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting during the year ended May 31, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibility principally
through its Audit Committee.

Page 20

Management Discussion and Analysis for the Fiscal Year Ended May 31, 2018
Thermal Energy’s auditors, KPMG LLP, conducted an independent audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the year ended May 31, 2018, performing such tests and other procedures as they consider
necessary to express an audit opinion. The external auditors have full and unrestricted access to the Audit
Committee to discuss their audit and related findings.
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